
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL
RHONDDA CYNON TAF

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

GWŶS I GYFARFOD O'R CYNGOR

C.Hanagan 
Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Y Pafiliynau 
Parc Hen Lofa'r Cambrian 
Cwm Clydach, CF40 2XX

Dolen gyswllt: Hannah Williams - Uned Busnes y Cyngor  (01443 424062) 

DYMA WŶS I CHI i gyfarfod o Grŵp LLYWIO'R CABINET AR FATERION YR 
HINSAWDD yn cael ei gynnal yn Ystafell Bwllgor 1, Y Pafiliynau, Parc Hen 
Lofa'r Cambrian, Cwm Clydach, Tonypandy CF40 2XX ar Dydd MAWRTH, 
28AIN IONAWR, 2020 am 11.00 AM.

Caiff Aelodau nad ydyn nhw'n aelodau o'r pwyllgor  ac aelodau o'r cyhoedd gyfrannu 
yn y cyfarfod ar faterion y cyfarfod er bydd y cais yn ôl doethineb y 
Cadeirydd. Gofynnwn i chi roi gwybod i Wasanaethau Democrataidd erbyn Dydd 
Gwener, 24 Ionawr 2020 trwy ddefnyddio'r manylion cyswllt uchod, gan gynnwys 
rhoi gwybod a fyddwch chi'n siarad Cymraeg neu Saesneg.

AGENDA
Tudalennau

1. DATGAN BUDDIANT 
Derbyn datganiadau o fuddiannau personol gan Aelodau, yn unol â gofynion y 
Cod Ymddygiad.

Noder:
1. Mae gofyn i Aelodau ddatgan rhif a phwnc yr agendwm mae eu 

buddiant yn ymwneud ag ef a mynegi natur y buddiant personol 
hwnnw; a

2. Lle bo Aelodau'n ymneilltuo o'r cyfarfod o ganlyniad i ddatgelu buddiant 
sy'n rhagfarnu, mae rhaid iddyn nhw roi gwybod i'r Cadeirydd pan 
fyddan nhw'n gadael.

2. COFNODION 
Cadarnhau cofnodion cyfarfod Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar faterion yr Hinsawdd a 
gynhaliwyd ar 18 Rhagfyr 2019 yn rhai cywir. 

5 - 10



3. MEITHRIN CYSYLLTIADAU Â'R GYMUNED 
Derbyn adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth – Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu, yn amlinellu'r dull arfaethedig o ymgysylltu â 
thrigolion, a chyfathrebu â nhw, mewn perthynas â newid yn yr hinsawdd. 
Amlinellir hefyd ddull arfaethedig o weithio gyda grwpiau amgylcheddol yn lleol 
ac yn genedlaethol, trigolion a busnesau i godi ymwybyddiaeth ac annog 
newid cadarnhaol o ran ymddygiad tuag at yr amgylchedd.

11 - 22
4. TRAFNIDIAETH – SUT YDYN NI'N LLEIHAU EIN HALLYRIADAU 

CARBON A NEWID EIN DULLIAU TEITHIO? 
Derbyn adroddiad Cyfarwyddwr y Gyfadran Ffyniant, Datblygu a 
Gwasanaethau Rheng-flaen, sy'n rhoi gwybod i'r Grŵp Llywio am y sefyllfa 
bresennol o ran allyriadau carbon a thrafnidiaeth, er mwyn nodi'r camau y mae 
modd eu cymryd i leihau'r allyriadau hyn.

23 - 32
5. YMGYNGHORIAD AR DDRAFFT POLISI RHEOLI GLASWELLT 

BLODEUOG RHONDDA CYNON TAF 
Derbyn adroddiad ar y cyd Cyfarwyddwr y Gyfadran Ffyniant, Datblygu a 
Rheng-flaen a'r Cyfarwyddwr – Iechyd a Diogelwch y Cyhoedd, a 
Gwasanaethau Cymuned, sy'n ceisio ymgynghori â'r Grŵp Llywio ar ddrafft 
Polisi Rheoli Glaswellt Blodeuog Rhondda Cynon Taf.

33 - 44
6. PA GAMAU Y MAE MODD EU CYMRYD YN YR ARDALOEDD 

RHEOLI ANSAWDD AER, ER MWYN SICRHAU BOD ANSAWDD 
AER YN GWELLA LEDLED Y FWRDEISTREF SIROL? 
Derbyn adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr – Iechyd a Diogelwch y Cyhoedd, a 
Gwasanaethau Cymuned sy'n rhoi cyfle i'r Grŵp Llywio drafod pa gamau y 
mae modd eu cymryd yn yr Ardaloedd Rheoli Ansawdd Aer, er mwyn sicrhau 
bod ansawdd aer yn gwella ledled Bwrdeistref y Sir.

45 - 76
7. MATERION BRYS 

Trafod unrhyw faterion sydd, yn ôl doethineb y Cadeirydd, yn rhai brys yng 
ngoleuni amgylchiadau arbennig.

Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu



Cylchreliad:-

Cadeirydd ac Is-gadeirydd:
(Y Cynghorydd R Lewis ac Y Cynghorydd M Webber)

Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol:
Y Cynghorydd  M Norris, Y Cynghorydd A Crimmings, Y Cynghorydd S Belzak ac 
Y Cynghorydd E Webster

Swyddogion:
Chris Bradshaw, Prif Weithredwr
Christian Hanagan, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a 
Chyfathrebu
Nigel Wheeler, Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran – Ffyniant, Datblygu, a Gwasanaethau 
Rheng-flaen
Paul Mee, Cyfarwyddwr – Iechyd a Diogelwch y Cyhoedd, a Gwasanaethau’r 
Gymuned.
Barrie Davies, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cyllid a Digidol
David Powell, Cyfarwyddwr Materion Eiddo’r Cyngor
Lesley Lawson, Rheolwr Cyflawniad
Richard Evans, Cyfarwyddwr - Materion Adnoddau Dynol
Simon Gale, Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu

Cynrychiolaeth Allanol:
Cyfeillion y Ddaear
Croeso i'n Coedwig



Tudalen wag



 

 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

 GRŴP LLYWIO'R CABINET AR FATERION YR HINSAWDD 
Cofnodion o gyfarfod y Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd a gynhaliwyd   Dydd 
Mercher, 18 Rhagfyr 2019 am 2.00 pm ym Safle Tirlenwi Bryn Pica, Heol Merthyr, Llwydcoed, 

Aberdâr CF44 0BX. 
 
 

Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol - Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd Aelodau 
oedd yn bresennol:-:- 

 
 
 

Y Cynghorydd R Lewis Y Cynghorydd  M Norris 
Y Cynghorydd A Crimmings Y Cynghorydd S Belzak 

Y Cynghorydd E Webster  
 

Cynrychiolwyr Allanol a wahoddwyd i'r Grŵp Llywio 
 

Ms H Richards - Cyfeillion y Ddaear  
Mr I Thomas - Croeso i'n Coedwig 

 
 

Swyddogion oedd yn bresennol 
 

Mr C Bradshaw, Prif Weithredwr 
Mr C Hanagan, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 
Mr N Wheeler, Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran – Ffyniant, Datblygu, a Gwasanaethau Rheng-flaen 

Mr D Powell, Cyfarwyddwr Materion Eiddo’r Cyngor 
Lawson, Rheolwr Cyflawniad 

Mr R Evans, Cyfarwyddwr - Materion Adnoddau Dynol 
Mr M Crumbie, Pennaeth Cyflenwi – Materion Caffael 

Ms E Dean, Cynlluniwr Amgylchedd 
Mr I Traylor, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth – Gwasanaethau Pensiynau, Caffael a Thrafodion 

Mr S Lock, Pennaeth Materion Caffael a Rheoli Ynni 
Mr S Vaughan, Rheolwr Gwasanaeth, E-Gaffael a Datblygu 

 
9   Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb  

 
 

 Daeth ymddiheuriad am absenoldeb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol M. 
Webber.  
 

 

10   Datgan Buddiant  
 

 

 Yn unol â Chod Ymddygiad y Cyngor, doedd dim datganiadau o fuddiant ynglŷn 
â'r agenda. 
 
 

 

11   Cofnodion  
 

 

 PENDERFYNODD yr Aelodau gymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd 
ar 18 Tachwedd 2019 yn rhai cywir yn dilyn y newid canlynol: 

• Cofnod Rhif 6 (trydydd paragraff o'r gwaelod) - Newid 'dim cydberthynas' 
i 'cydberthynas bron yn gyflawn'. 

 

Tudalen 5

Agendwm 2



 

 
12   Ffynnon Dwym Ffynnon Taf  

 
 

 Gyda chymorth cyflwyniad PowerPoint, rhoddodd Cyfarwyddwr Materion Eiddo'r 
Cyngor a'r Pennaeth Rheoli Prosiectau Ynni wybodaeth i'r Grŵp Llywio mewn 
perthynas â'r sefyllfa bresennol o ran Prosiect Ynni Adnewyddadwy Ffynnon Taf 
a'r ffordd ymlaen.  
 
Esboniodd y swyddogion fod Ffynnon Dwym Ffynnon Taf yn dod i'r amlwg ar lan 
ddwyreiniol yr Afon Taf yn ne-ddwyrain y fwrdeistref. Dyma'r unig ffynnon dwym 
naturiol yng Nghymru. Cafodd y Grŵp Llywio wybodaeth gefndirol am y prosiect, 
a chawson nhw wybod bod carfan 'Ynni' Eiddo'r Cyngor wedi cyflawni gwaith yn 
unol â dwy astudiaeth ymarferoldeb a gynhaliwyd gan Gyfeillion Ffynnon Taf, 
sy'n ystyried dulliau amrywiol o ddatblygu potensial ynni adnewyddadwy 
Ffynnon Taf. Cytunwyd i fwrw ymlaen â'r gwaith ar sail darparu rhwydwaith 
gwres i ddisodli'r system wresogi gyfredol mewn dau adeilad cyfagos sy'n eiddo i 
RhCT. Aeth y Swyddog ymlaen i egluro mai'r bwriad ar gyfer Pafiliwn Parc 
Ffynnon Taf oedd disodli'r system wres drydan bresennol; y bwriad ar gyfer 
Ysgol Gynradd Ffynnon Taf yw disodli neu integreiddio â'r system nwy gyfredol. 
 
Dywedodd y Swyddog y byddai cost y datblygiad yn annhebygol o fod yn fwy 
na'r ystod ddisgwyliedig o £250,000 i £300,000 a thrwy strwythuro'r elfennau 
ariannol er mwyn manteisio i'r eithaf ar y taliad Lwfans Gwres Adnewyddadwy, 
mae modd lleihau'r ad-daliad ar fuddsoddiad o sawl blwyddyn. Cafodd yr 
Aelodau wybod bod disgwyl i'r prosiect craidd disgwyliedig cyfredol arbed 37.1 
tunnell o CO2. 
 
Cwestiynodd un Aelod a fyddai'r prosiect yn destun cyfathrebu ar y cyfryngau 
cymdeithasol, a chadarnhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth, Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu y byddai'r prosiect yn cael ei gyfathrebu â'r 
cyhoedd fel holl waith cadarnhaol arall y Grŵp Llywio,   
 
Canmolodd un Aelod y fenter, gan ofyn a fyddai'r gwres yn cael ei bweru gan 
ynni hydro. Esboniodd y swyddog na fyddai hyn yn hyfyw ar hyn o bryd. Fodd 
bynnag, efallai y bydd modd ehangu'r prosiect yn y dyfodol. 
 
Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i'r swyddogion am yr adroddiad cynhwysfawr. 
PENDERFYNWYD: 

1. Argymell cymeradwyo'r prosiect i'r Cabinet. 
 
 

 

13   Rhaglen Waith ar gyfer y Dyfodol  
 

 

 Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth, Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a 
Chyfathrebu y rhestr arfaethedig i'r Grŵp Llywio o'r materion y mae angen i 
Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd eu hystyried yn ystod Blwyddyn y 
Cyngor 2019-2020. 
 
Esboniodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y byddai'r Rhaglen Waith yn sicrhau bod 
cynnydd yn cael ei fonitro, a bod modd rhoi camau gweithredu gerbron y Cabinet 
er mwyn ymateb i ymrwymiad y Cabinet i sicrhau bod y Cyngor yn Garbon 
Niwtral erbyn 2030, yn ogystal â gweithio gyda thrigolion a busnesau yn y 
Fwrdeistref i sicrhau bod y Fwrdeistref Sirol gyfan yn Garbon Niwtral erbyn 2030 
neu mor agos at hynny â phosibl. 
 

 

Tudalen 6



 

Daeth y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth i ben drwy roi gwybod i'r Grŵp Llywio bod y 
rhaglen yn hyblyg a, phe hoffai’r Aelodau ychwanegu adroddiadau yn y dyfodol, 
byddai'r swyddogion yn gweithio gyda nhw i lunio adroddiadau i'w hystyried ar 
ôl Mawrth 2020. 
 
Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i'r swyddog am yr adroddiad a dywedodd y Grŵp Llywio 
bod Cyngor Tref Pontypridd yn gwneud darn o waith mewn perthynas â 
bioamrywiaeth. O ganlyniad i hynny, byddai'r Dirprwy Arweinydd yn 
ychwanegu'r pwnc fel eitem i'w drafod yng nghyfarfod nesaf Pwyllgor Cyd-
gysylltu â'r Gymuned ym mis Ionawr 2020.  
 
Cododd un Aelod bryderon mewn perthynas â'r adroddiad ar ddatblygu 
seilwaith i gefnogi perchnogaeth cerbydau carbon isel - i'w drafod gan y Grŵp 
Llywio ym mis Ionawr 2020. Siaradodd yr Aelod am yr anhawster o ran gosod 
pwyntiau gwefru cerbydau trydan ledled y Fwrdeistref, gyda'r Swyddogion yn 
cadarnhau y byddai'n cael ei drafod yn fanwl yn y cyfarfod nesaf.  
 
PENDERFYNODD y Grŵp Llywio: 

1. Cymeradwyo Rhaglen Waith Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar Faterion yr 
Hinsawdd ar gyfer Blwyddyn y Cyngor 2019-2020. 

 
 

14   Caffael Cyflenwadau a Gwasanaethau yn Lleol  
 

 

 Rhoddodd Rheolwr y Gwasanaeth Caffael drosolwg o drefniadau contractio'r 
Cyngor ac, yn benodol, sut y mae modd i'r Cyngor ddangos gwariant gyda 
chyflenwyr lleol o fewn Rhondda Cynon Taf. 
 
Esboniodd y Swyddog fod yr holl waith Caffael Cyhoeddus yn cael ei 
lywodraethu gan Gyfarwyddebau Caffael yr UE a Rheoliadau Caffael y DU, a 
bod gan y Cyngor rwymedigaeth i gydymffurfio â'r Fframwaith Cyfreithiol yma.  
 
Rhoddodd y Swyddog drosolwg o'r wybodaeth yn Adran 5 yr adroddiad, sy'n 
crynhoi'r arian a wariwyd yn lleol yn 2018/19 ac yn ystod chwe mis cyntaf 
blwyddyn ariannol 2019/20. Cadarnhaodd y swyddog fod y data wedi'i grynhoi 
gan ddefnyddio cod post pob cyflenwr, ac er mwyn darparu dadansoddiad 
manylach o ran faint o wariant y Cyngor sydd o fudd i economi leol Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, caiff adolygiad manylach o'r gwariant ei gynnal gyda 50 cyflenwr 
gorau'r Cyngor. Cadarnhawyd y caiff y newyddion diweddaraf am y gwaith yma 
ei adrodd yn ôl i'r Grŵp Llywio ym mis Mehefin 2020. 
 
Yn ogystal â'r adolygiad o'r 50 cyflenwr gorau, cadarnhaodd y Swyddog fod 
gwaith hefyd yn mynd rhagddo mewn ymgynghoriad â Gwasanaeth Adfywio'r 
Cyngor, sy'n ceisio mapio'r busnesau hynny sydd wedi'u lleoli o fewn ffin y 
Cyngor. Bydd canlyniad y gwaith yma'n cael ei ddefnyddio i nodi cyflenwyr 
nwyddau a gwasanaethau posibl ar gyfer y dyfodol. 
 
Cafwyd trafodaeth ynghylch masnach deg, gydag un Aelod yn cadarnhau bod y 
Cyngor yn Gyngor masnach deg.  
 
Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i'r Swyddog am yr adroddiad llawn gwybodaeth, a 
manteisiodd ar y cyfle i sôn am ddarn cadarn o waith a wnaed gan un o 
Swyddogion Graddedig y Cyngor i ystyried opsiynau ar gyfer sicrhau'r Buddion 
Cymunedol mwyaf posibl ar sail contractau caffael. Yn dilyn y gwaith yma, 
cytunodd y Cabinet y bydd Buddion Cymunedol bellach yn cael eu hymgorffori 

 

Tudalen 7



 

yn yr holl ymarferion caffael perthnasol.  
 
PENDERFYNODD y Grŵp Llywio: 

1. Cytuno bod gwaith pellach yn mynd rhagddo i adolygu 50 cyflenwr 
gorau'r Cyngor, gyda'r nod o ganfod gwerth y trefniadau yma i'n 
heconomi leol; 

2. Nodi'r gwaith sy'n mynd rhagddo i ddatblygu dealltwriaeth fanwl o'r 
busnesau sy'n gweithredu yn y Fwrdeistref Sirol;  

3. Bod diweddariad ynglŷn â'r camau yma yn cael eu cyflwyno yn ôl i'r Grŵp 
ym mis Mehefin 2020. 

 
 

15   Gwaredu'r defnydd o blastigion un-tro o holl gontractau ac adeiladau'r 
Cyngor  
 

 

 Rhoddodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth Caffael drosolwg o'r canllawiau cyfredol 
sydd ar waith i gefnogi sefydliadau wrth iddynt geisio rhoi'r gorau i ddefnyddio 
plastigion un-tro. 
 
Cyfeiriodd y Swyddog yr Aelodau at Adran 4 yr adroddiad, lle amlinellwyd yr 
Hierarchaeth Wastraff, sef hierarchaeth o opsiynau ar gyfer rheoli gwastraff gan 
gofio beth sydd orau i'r amgylchedd. Clywodd yr aelodau fod y Gyfarwyddeb 
Fframwaith Gwastraff (2008) yn darparu hierarchaeth wastraff ddefnyddiol a 
gwerthfawr ar gyfer adolygu'r defnydd o blastigau un defnydd.  
 
Wedyn, cyfeiriodd y Swyddog yr Aelodau at Adran 5 yr adroddiad, lle 
nodwyd tabl o'r defnydd cyfredol o blastigion un-tro, ynghyd ag 
enghreifftiau lle mae cynnyrch un-tro wedi'u disodli gan gynnyrch amgen. 
Clywodd y Grŵp mai'r cam nesaf oedd cynnal archwiliad manwl a thrylwyr 
o'r meysydd perthnasol, gyda'r bwriad o nodi faint o blastigion un-tro sy'n 
cael eu defnyddio, gwerthuso'r trefniadau gwaredu cyfredol sydd ar waith 
a rhoi egwyddorion yr hierarchaeth wastraff ar waith drwy ymgynghori â 
chyflenwyr, a hynny er mwyn defnyddio cynhyrchion amgen priodol. Bydd 
canlyniad y gwaith yma'n cael ei gyflwyno i'r Grŵp Llywio ym mis Ebrill 
2020, ynghyd â chynllun gweithredu sy'n ceisio cael gwared ar y defnydd 
o blastigau un-tro cyn belled ag sy'n ymarferol bosibl erbyn 2020. 
 
Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i'r Swyddog am yr adroddiad manwl, a nododd ei fod yn 
dystiolaeth o ddarlun gonest o safle'r Cyngor a'r materion a gododd.  
 
Cafwyd trafodaeth mewn perthynas â defnyddio plastigion un-tro, gydag un 
Aelod yn nodi y dylai ysgolion fod yn esiampl flaenllaw i'r gymuned. Nododd yr 
Aelod gynlluniau posibl i gyd-fynd â'r syniad: 

• Cynllun Gwobrwyo ar gyfer defnyddio cynhwysydd mae modd ei 
ailddefnyddio mewn ysgolion; 

• Gorsafoedd dŵr i ail-lenwi poteli yn lle peiriannau gwerthu;  
• Ymgysylltu â Phwyllgorau Eco mewn ysgolion 

 
Bu aelodau'r grŵp hefyd yn trafod yr egwyddor o addysgu'r holl staff 
ynglŷn â'r mater pwysig yma, ac roedden nhw'n cytuno â hynny. 

 
Mewn perthynas â gorsafoedd dŵr, cadarnhaodd Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran 
Ffyniant, Datblygu a Gwasanaethau Rheng Flaen fwriadau'r Cyngor i ystyried 

 

Tudalen 8



 

lleoliadau posibl ar gyfer gosod y rhain yng nghanol prif drefi'r Cyngor. Ar ben 
hynny, mae gwaith yn digwydd i nodi lle y gellir darparu gorsafoedd ail-lenwi 
drwy ymgynghori â busnesau lleol. 
 
Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i Aelodau'r Grŵp am eu mewnbwn. 
 
PENDERFYNODD y Grŵp Llywio ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd: 

1. Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad, yn benodol pwysigrwydd sicrhau bod 
egwyddorion yr Hierarchaeth Wastraff yn cael ei defnyddio wrth ganfod 
cynnyrch amgen i ddisodli plastigau un-tro; 

2. Nodi y bydd adroddiad sy'n darparu canlyniad yr archwiliad yn cael ei 
ddarparu i'r Grŵp ym mis Ebrill 2020. 

 
16   Ailgylchu yn Rhondda Cynon Taf  

 
 

 Derbyn adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran – Ffyniant, Datblygu a 
Gwasanaethau Rheng Flaen, sy'n rhoi diweddariad i'r Grŵp Llywio ar Faterion yr 
Hinsawdd ynglŷn â chyflawniad ailgylchu ar gyfer 6 mis cyntaf 2019/20, y 
Cyfleuster Adennill Deunydd newydd, datblygiadau ym Mryn Pica yn y dyfodol a 
newidiadau deddfwriaethol posibl. 
 
Esboniodd y Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran fod gan y Cyngor darged ailgylchu statudol 
o 64%, a osodir gan Lywodraeth Cymru. Byddai methu â chyrraedd y targed yn 
golygu bod y Cyngor yn derbyn dirwy sylweddol.  
 
Cyfeiriwyd yr aelodau at Adran 4 yr adroddiad, a oedd yn amlinellu cyflawniad 
RhCT yn ystod 6 mis cyntaf y flwyddyn ariannol ac yn tystio bod RhCT wedi 
cyflawni'r targed a nodwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru, a bod y Cyngor mewn 
sefyllfa dda am weddill y flwyddyn. Dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran mai'r 
targed nesaf ar gyfer y Cyngor fyddai targed 2024/2025 o 70%. Roedd e o'r farn 
y byddai modd newid y targed yma i 80%. Aeth ymlaen i drafod sut mae modd 
cyflawni'r targed trwy wella'r perfformiad cyfredol a thrwy ddarparu'r Cyfleuster 
Ailgylchu Matresi newydd ym Mryn Pica. Soniodd y Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran am 
yr angen i greu ymgyrch farchnata i roi gwybod i drigolion y byddai camau 
gorfodi yn cael eu cymryd os nad ydyn nhw'n ailgylchu, pe bai'r Aelodau'n 
argymell y newid i'r Cabinet. 
 
Cyfeiriodd y Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran at y mentrau sydd ar waith gan RhCT i wella 
ailgylchu, fel y ganolfan addysg ryngweithiol ym Mryn Pica, y Cyfleuster Treulio 
anerobig, y Cyfleuster Ailgylchu Matresi a'r Gwaith Trin Trwytholch. Clywodd yr 
Aelodau mai'r uchelgais oedd datblygu Parc Eco ar y safle, a fyddai'n arwain at 
ddatblygu proses ailgylchu ar gyfer plastig caled lle mae plastigau'n cael eu 
malu a'u golchi er mwyn naill ai gwerthu'r deunydd neu'i droi'n gynnyrch ar y 
safle. 
 
Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i'r Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran am yr adroddiad cynhwysfawr 
a chanmolodd ddull casglu ailgylchu syml RhCT o'i gymharu ag Awdurdodau 
Lleol eraill. 
 
Cafwyd trafodaethau ynghylch gwastraff bagiau du a'r potensial i leihau nifer y 
dyddiau casglu ymhellach. Dywedodd Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran na fu cynnydd yn 
nifer yr achosion o dipio anghyfreithlon ar ôl i'r Cyngor leihau nifer y bagiau duon 
yr oedd e'n ei gasglu - er bod y Cyngor wedi rhagweld y gallai hynny ddigwydd. 
Cadarnhaodd nad oedd unrhyw gynlluniau ar y gweill i leihau’r casgliad 
ymhellach, ond dywedodd fod angen addysgu’r gymuned ynglŷn â'r gwastraff 

 

Tudalen 9



 

priodol sydd i’w waredu yn y bagiau du.  
 
Siaradodd y Cadeirydd yn gadarnhaol am y cynnig a nododd y byddai RhCT yn 
arwain y ffordd fel yr Awdurdod Lleol cyntaf yng Nghymru i osod targed o 80%. 
 
PENDERFYNODD y Grŵp Llywio: 

1. Argymell i'r Cabinet newid y targed ailgylchu i 80% erbyn 2024/25 
 

17   Materion Brys  
 

 

 • Manteisiodd y cynrychiolydd o sefydliad Croeso i'n Coedwig ar y cyfle i 
roi gwybodaeth i'r Grŵp Llywio am brosiect dichonoldeb, o'r enw 
'Skyline', a ariannwyd gan y Sefydliad Friends Provident. Soniodd y 
cynrychiolydd am y gwaith a wnaed ledled cymunedau lleol i archwilio 
hanes, ystyr a gweledigaethau pob cwm. 

 
Rhoddwyd taflenni gwybodaeth manwl ynglŷn â'r prosiect i'r Aelodau, a 
chytunwyd derbyn diweddariadau pellach yng nghyfarfodydd y Pwyllgor 
yn y dyfodol.  

 
Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i'r cynrychiolydd am yr wybodaeth a siaradodd 
am bwysigrwydd Grwpiau Trydydd Sector o ran arwain y ffordd ar fentrau 
allweddol.  

 
• Cytunwyd y byddai'n fuddiol i'r Grŵp Llywio fynd ar daith o amgylch Bryn 

Pica yn yr haf. 
 

 

 
 
DAETH Y CYFARFOD I BEN AM 3.30 

pm 
Y CYNGHORYDD RHYS LEWIS 

Cadeirydd. 
 

Tudalen 10



 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE CABINET STEERING GROUP 

 
28TH JANUARY 2020 

 
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES AND 
COMMUNICATION IN DISCUSSION WITH THE CABINET’S CLIMATE 
CHANGE CHAMPION (COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS) 
 
Author: Chris Davies, Corporate Policy & Consultation Manager 
01443 424069 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to inform the Climate Change Cabinet 

Steering Group of proposed approaches to resident/community 
engagement and communication. This includes businesses and 
representatives from national and local environmental groups to raise 
awareness of the importance of behavioural change in and encourage in 
respect of Climate Change, encourage participation at a community level 
and promote the proactive work of the Council and community groups.   
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group: 
 
2.1 Consider the information contained in the report and the proposed 

engagement approach subject to any amendments and support the 
proposed areas of focus: 

 
A) Communications & Social Media activity 
B) Developing a behavioural change campaign 
C) Facilitating Involvement 
D) Engaging future generations 

 
2.3 Agree for officers to work in partnership with key environmental 

stakeholders and groups to develop this approach going forward, and 
seek their engagement in specific communications and engagement 
activity; and 

 
2.3 Agree to receive updates on progress at future meetings. 
 

Tudalen 11

Agendwm 3



3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1  To ensure that the work of the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group 

is driven by the involvement of all key stakeholders, raising awareness 
of best practice and ultimately encouraging residents and communities 
to change their behaviour. To support this work, the Council has an 
important role to play in leading by example. 

 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
 
4.1 The Council, through the development of a new Corporate Plan, is 

committed to becoming a Carbon Neutral organisation by 2030 and to 
work with residents and businesses within the Borough to ensure the 
whole County Borough is Carbon Neutral as close as possible to the 
2030 target. 

 
4.2 The Cabinet Steering Group has been established to ensure an 

Authority-wide approach to issues of Climate Change and the Council 
becoming a carbon neutral organisation. 

 
The terms of reference of the group state that the Group will; 
 

- Provide the opportunity for persons, interested parties, and groups who 
live in Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council the ability to engage 
in the wider response of the community to Climate Change;  

 
4.3 In order to achieve its ambitious 2030 target requires the Council to work 

with communities and groups such as, Friends of the Earth, Greenpeace 
and other local environmental groups to help to engage residents and 
businesses in ways that will encourage them to adapt and change their 
behaviour.   

 
4.4 The Council has already started working with the Council’s Youth 

Council on the matter of climate change. These discussions have 
already indicated the priority placed upon tackling climate change by 
young people and the leading role they wish to play.  This will be further 
supported by inviting school eco committees to get involved. 

 
4.5 This report outlines an approach to community engagement that will help 

the Council to deliver the necessary actions to respond to the challenge 
of Climate Change and in doing so, support businesses, communities 
and residents to reduce their environmental impact and so the Carbon 
Footprint of the County Borough. 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 12



 
5. PROPOSED APPROACH 
 
5.1 The Council already undertakes a number of effective engagement 

approaches, which utilises a variety of communication channels and 
methods. It is proposed that the Council utilises these approaches, but 
also complements them with a range of specific campaigns, engagement 
events and stakeholder involvement to effectively support and persuade 
the participation necessary from residents of Rhondda Cynon Taf to 
initiate in the medium to longer term, the appropriate changes in their 
current behaviour. 

 
5.2 It is proposed to involve as wide a range of stakeholders, as possible, in 

the development of these proposals but also the delivery of the wider 
conversation. The achieve this the first step will be to identify the key 
stakeholders and identify the most appropriate engagement methods to 
employ. The contribution of the Steering Group’s community 
members is sought to support this.  

 
5.3 The development of future approaches will need to consider how best 

we can encourage the residents of Rhondda Cynon Taf to take a 
personal lead in reducing their carbon footprint. 

 
5.4 It will need to consider how the Council can work with national and local 

environmental groups to engage residents and businesses to adapt and 
change.  Approaches might include: 

 
5.5 Communications & Social Media activity 
 

Through the development of a dedicated communication plan the 
Council would connect communications activity with key milestones and 
delivery of projects currently being considered. 

 
5.6 The Council proactively promotes services which are contributing to the 

positive progress already undertaken by the Council to reduce its carbon 
footprint. However, it is evident from the contributions of Steering Group 
Members that this positive progress is not reaching individuals and 
groups who are already championing change and making an impact at 
a local level.  

 
5.7 In order to raise awareness and enable behavioural change, the 

Council’s social media and marketing expertise would be used to 
develop targeted campaigns for specific audiences, as well as more 
general awareness raising of the impact of Climate Change events to 
RCT residents and businesses. Key actions will include: 

 

Tudalen 13



• Communicating how the Council is changing how it operates and 
delivers services and provide to empower residents to take the lead from 
our proactive lead; 

• Playing the leading role in support the Council’s behavioural change 
campaign; 

• Developing a dedicated #hashtagRCTClimateChange; 
• Milestone days to encourage greater dialogue about Climate Change; 
• Implementing ’Did you know’? campaigns; 
• Wider support for engagement events and activities; 
• Promoting good work already taking place at a local level; and 
• Connecting with national groups who support behavioural change. 

 
5.8 Communicating behavioural change 
 
 Social Marketing: Definition 

 
Social marketing is designed to create social change, not to directly 
benefit a brand. Using traditional marketing techniques, it raises 
awareness of a given problem or cause, and aims to convince an 
audience to change their behaviours. 

 
Social marketing “promotes” a behaviour or lifestyle that benefits society, 
in order to create the desired change. This benefit to the public good is 
always the primary focus. And instead of showing how a matter is better 
than competing issues, social marketing “competes” against undesirable 
thoughts, behaviours, or actions. 

 
Well-executed social marketing captures attention, and spreads 
awareness about a social issue, through creativity and emotion. Most 
importantly, it presents a compelling, simple way to make the world 
better, and makes this beneficial behaviour more desirable than any 
“competing” behaviour. Through these elements, social marketing is 
able to successfully “promote” a beneficial behaviour. 
 

5.9 The Council has a strong track record in delivering behavioural change 
campaigns, e.g. communications activities have proactively supported 
the Council’s recycling improvements and the implementation of service 
change. 

 
5.10 It is proposed that a behaviour change marketing campaign to 

include story board visuals, digital content, social media 
messaging be developed for comment and feedback from the 
Steering Group. 

 
5.11 More generally, a range of social media channels can be used to 

communicate the Climate Change agenda and the support of 
stakeholders will be key to sign post to social media discussions, already 
taking place.  

Tudalen 14



 
5.12 Below are examples of campaigns already undertaken by the Council, 

which have supported positive recycling changes and are supporting the 
profile of issues such as water re-fill stations. 

 
 
 
 

•  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 15



 
 
 
 
 

•  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 16



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.13 Developing a conversation 
 
 It is intended that the Council’s engagement approach on this matter will 

be ‘conversational’ from the outset, seeking to build understanding first, 
which in turn will support subsequent engagement and participation at a 
local level. 

 
 It is proposed that as well as holding an ongoing conversation with 

residents and communities about Climate Change, they will be invited 
and encouraged to participate in focussed discussions on the Council’s 
specific climate change initiatives as they arise, e.g. community tree 
planting, supporting initiatives to eliminate single use plastics and car 
free days.  

 
The conversation will be underpinned by a range of communications and 
engagement activities.   
 

5.14 It is proposed that the conversations will be underpinned by a Central 
Climate Change web portal to which all residents and stakeholders can 
be signposted.   An interim portal will be put in place within a month, 
which will contain information that promotes and raises awareness of 
current projects, best practice and any case studies from across RCT as 
well as national and global events.   

 
 It is suggested that the development of this interim site be used as one 

of the mechanisms to engage young people.  Young people’s 
representatives could be invited to contribute ideas for its design and 
content and also to help develop an RCT Climate Change brand.   

Tudalen 17



 
 

5.15 By linking to national bodies’ websites and relevant Welsh Government 
Initiatives, the wider opportunities for the public to realise their personal 
responsibilities and the changes they can make will be amplified.   
 

5.16 Wider web content can also be used to host online discussion forums or 
message boards and also host information about the Climate Change 
Steering Group, engagement activities, milestones and successes. 

 
 
5.17 Involvement  
 
 As well as providing information about the Council’s approach to Climate 

Change and associated issues, we will need to ask people what their 
Climate priorities are; Is the Council taking the right approach? What else 
could the Council be doing?   

 
5.18 As well as the involvement of Environmental Groups, an ongoing 

conversation will need to progress with the following groups/individuals; 
 

• Generally all residents Young people e.g. through The Rhondda Cynon Taf Youth 
Forum and through schools and Youth Groups  

• Partner organisations through the PSB 
• Older People e.g. through the ‘Fiftyplus’ Older People’s Forum  
• The RCT Disability Forum 
• The Council’s Citizens’ Panel  
• Local Partnerships and Communities Together ‘PACT’ meetings Health Forums  
• Service User Groups e.g. Transport, Carers  
• Community/Voluntary groups  
• Welsh Language Groups 
• Community and Town Councils 
• Councillors, MPs, AMs 
• Businesses 
• Staff 

 
5.19 The Council’s Overview & Scrutiny Committee is currently developing an 

Involvement Strategy to ensure all services prioritise engagement with 
communities and service users as part of their day-to-day approach to 
service delivery. Subject to agreement by the Council’s Cabinet, this 
document will play a role in supporting the engagement activity of the 
Climate Change Steering Group. 

 
5.20 The Council’s Community Council Liaison Committee is already 

scheduled to consider this matter at its first meeting in 2020. The 
participation of community engagement will be key and should seek to 
support future projects at a local level. 

 

Tudalen 18

http://www.youngwales.wales/index.php/our-work/forums/rhondda-cynon-taff
http://www.youngwales.wales/index.php/our-work/forums/rhondda-cynon-taff
http://www.fiftyplusforumrct.co.uk/
https://www.snapsurveys.com/wh/s.asp?k=152907245714
https://www.south-wales.police.uk/en/local-news/ely-pact-meeting-dates-for-2019-everyone-welcome/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/AdultsandOlderPeople/Caringforotherpeople/Supportforcarers/Supportforcarers.aspx
http://www.interlinkrct.org.uk/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/OverviewandScrutinyCommittee/2020/01/20/Reports/Agendaitem6InvolvementStrategyReport.pdf


5.21 The way in which the groups or individuals will be involved and the 
approach taken will be dependent on subject.  An engagement Plan will 
be developed with the community representatives of the Steering Group.  

 
This could include: 

 
• Face to face engagement events; 
• Road show events to raise awareness; 
• Focus group events which lead to participation in a project; 
• Work with community groups to facilitate conversations and links to 

develop future projects; and 
• ‘Cafe style’ events to sign-post to future information. 

 
5.22  Face to face engagement events could be used across the Borough to 
 raise awareness and promote behavioural change with our residents. 
 
5.23   The Council facilitates positive engagement by undertaking these events  

in town centres, at Council venues or other venues in the community 
which have a connection to the subject matter, or have a cross spectrum 
of residents in attendance.  

 
5.24 Any future approach will need to include engagement at a community 

level, to support project delivery in areas such tree planting and improved 
recycling performance as examples. 

 
5.25 Through the knowledge gained by working with stakeholders and 

community groups, there will be the opportunity to utilise targeted events 
to focus on encouraging wider participation in specific areas of 
behavioural change – car sharing might be an example.  

 
5.26 The potential engagement opportunities referenced will feed into the 

wider planned communications activities.  
 
5.27 As community leaders, the wider engagement and involvement of all 

elected members is crucially important to the effective engagement of 
communities across all of Rhondda Cynon Taf.  

 
5.28 Seeking the engagement of elected members in leading project delivery 

and those conversations with residents will make a positive difference 
and enhance progress. Examples such as the Rhyd-cycle and Green 
Village initiative led by members demonstrates the positive lead 
Councillors will play.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 19



5.29 Involving Future Generations  
 

The Council’s Climate Change Champion has already requested that the 
Council’s Youth Forums are involved and are able to advise and support 
the work of the Steering Group.  There are a number of Youth Forums 
across RCT that cater for 11-25 year olds.   

 
5.30 One of the ways of facilitating this will be through the sharing of the 

Steering Group’s work programme through the Council’s structured 
youth forum arrangements. 

 
5.31 The Cabinet Office has already undertaken discussions with colleagues 

in the Council’s Youth Engagement & Participation Service to facilitate 
engagement with young people who are engaged more widely with the 
Council’s Youth Services. 

 
5.32 To achieve this, the Council will work closely with RCT schools and our 

youth services to develop such approaches with young people.  
Following this dialogue, proposals will be developed to engage a larger 
audience of young people. This work will need to complement schools’ 
work as part of their own eco committees and also the Eco-schools 
programme organised by Keep Wales Tidy. 

 
 
6. NEXT STEPS 
 
 Key to delivering the intended approach will be to ensure that individuals 

and groups who are taking a proactive role already in our communities 
connect their conversations into the work of the Council. 

 
• Continue to promote the positive progress the Council is making; 
• Connect communication messages with current online conversations; 

and residents taking a proactive interest in the subject of climate change; 
• To bring Steering Group members and key stakeholders together to 

consider how networks can be utilised to begin engagement; 
• Develop marketing options to deliver the necessary behavioural change 

required; 
• Develop a calendar of events to begin our conversations; 
• Engage with local and national environmental campaigns; 
• Develop strategic, digital, web and social media; and 
• Target messaging to Council employees.    

 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 20

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/RelatedDocuments/workprgrammes/20192020/ClimateChangeSteeringGroupWorkProgramme.pdf
https://www.eco-schools.org.uk/
https://www.eco-schools.org.uk/


7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. The engagement approach will provide opportunities for a diverse group 

of residents and stakeholders to get involved, providing a range of 
methods including online, accessible events and specific engagement 
for targeted groups, such as young people, older people and the 
Council’s Disability Forum. 

 
8. RESIDENT ENGAGEMENT 
 
8.1  The recommendations outlined in the report seek to develop an 

approach to Communication, Engagement and Involvement that will 
inform a plan to mitigate the effects of Climate Change in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf and that will encourage everyone that lives, works and visits 
Rhondda Cynon Taf to change their behaviour  

 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
9.1 There are no financial implications directly aligned to this report. 

10 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  
 
10.1  There are no legal implications aligned to this report. 
 
11. LINKS TO CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT. 
 
11.1 The Council has committed to becoming a Carbon Neutral organisation 

by 2030 and to work with residents and businesses within the Borough 
to ensure the whole County Borough is Carbon Neutral as close as 
possible to the 2030 target.  This supports the priorities of the Council’s 
current Corporate Plan as well as the proposals which are the subject of 
engagement in the new Corporate Plan. 
 

11.2 This work is fully reflecting the Sustainable Development principles of 
the Well-being of Future Generations Act and will contribute to all seven 
National Goals, with more immediate direct contributions to a Globally 
Responsible Wales, a more Resilient Wales, a Healthy Wales and a 
Wales of Cohesive Communities.  

 
12. CONCLUSION 
 
12.1  The report outlines a proposed approach to resident engagement and 

communication in respect of climate change, working with a wide range 
of stakeholders to raise awareness of and encourage positive 
behavioural change towards the environment in RCT. 

 

Tudalen 21



12.2 The overall aim is to provide the opportunity for persons, interested 
parties, and groups who in live in Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council the ability to engage in the wider response of the community to 
climate change. 

 
 

Tudalen 22



 

 
 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE STEERING GROUP 

 
28TH JANUARY 2020 

 
 
REPORT OF THE GROUP DIRECTOR OF PROSPERITY, DEVELOPMENT AND 
FRONTLINE SERVICES IN DISCUSSION WITH THE CABINET’S CLIMATE 
CHANGE CHAMPION (COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS)  
 

TRANSPORTATION – HOW DO WE REDUCE OUR CARBON EMISSIONS 
AND CHANGE OUR MODES OF TRANSPORT? 

 
Author:  Roger Waters, Service Director Frontline Services. 
Tel 01443 494702 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to appraise the Steering Group of the current 

situation regarding carbon emissions and transport and to identify the steps 
that can be taken to reduce such emissions.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Steering Group: 
 
2.1 Note the content of the report. 
 
3.    BACKGROUND 

 
3.1 Transport is a derived demand that operates across county boundaries. 

Whilst there are steps that individual councils can take to decarbonise 
transport, such steps will be more effective where they are delivered under 
a coordinated strategy on a regional or national basis, where all parties are 
focussed on achieving a common goal. 
 

3.2 Transportation of goods and people around Wales is fundamental to our 
current economic model and our well-being as a nation. It is an integral part 
of most economic, social, environmental and cultural activity. With transport 
accounting for 14% of Wales’ carbon emissions, it is essential that the 
sector is made more resilient, efficient and low carbon in a cost-effective 
way, if we are to meet the Welsh Government’s requirement to reduce 
overall carbon emissions by at least 80% (or higher) by 2050. 
 
 
 

Tudalen 23

Agendwm 4



3.3 Welsh Government strategy for reducing carbon is set out in Prosperity for 
All: A Low Carbon Wales; 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/low-carbon-
delivery-plan_1.pdf 
 
This establishes a commitment to; 
  
….putting Wales at the forefront of a shift towards active travel and a low 
carbon public transport system which is accessible to all and contributes to 
liveable and sustainable communities. This is backed by a bold ambition 
for a zero emissions bus, taxi and private hire vehicle fleet by 2028. 
 

3.4 The document anticipates metro style public transport services offering a 
sustainable transport alternative to the private car and active travel 
becoming the preferred option for short journeys that are currently 
predominantly being done by car. In addition, there is an expectation that 
the take up in electric vehicle usage will accelerate with the Welsh 
Government supporting investment in electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure. The approach can be summarised as follows; 
 

• Behaviour Change Measures (Demand Reduction Policies) 
• Uptake of Electric Vehicles 
• Vehicle and Fuel Efficiency Measures 

 
3.5 Prosperity for All establishes high level policies covering carbon emissions 

across the entire Welsh community and economy with the expectation that 
the Welsh Transport Strategy  (anticipated to be published late 2020) will 
flesh out these policies and provide the detail and context required to 
inform local and regional transport policy and delivery plans. 

 
3.6 RCT is proactive at a regional level through the Cardiff Capital Region City 

Deal (CCRCD) and the Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority 
(CCRTA), as well as driving forward projects and proposals that are more 
specific to RCT. 
 

3.7 Working with the WLGA; evidence was recently submitted to the Welsh 
Government’s Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Scrutiny Committee 
regarding De-Carbonising Transport and Prosperity for All. 
 

3.8 This evidence was presented on 13th November; 
 
http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/g5732/Public%20reports%20pa
ck%20Wednesday%2013-Nov-
2019%2009.25%20Economy%20Infrastructure%20and%20Skills%20Co
mmittee.pdf?T=10 
 

3.9 As can be seen from the evidence, the commitment to reduce carbon 
emissions by at least 80% by 2050 is extremely challenging. As indicated 
earlier, Transport is a derived demand; users of transport are primarily 
consuming the service not because of its direct benefits, but because they 

Tudalen 24

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/low-carbon-delivery-plan_1.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/low-carbon-delivery-plan_1.pdf
http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/g5732/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2013-Nov-2019%2009.25%20Economy%20Infrastructure%20and%20Skills%20Committee.pdf?T=10
http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/g5732/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2013-Nov-2019%2009.25%20Economy%20Infrastructure%20and%20Skills%20Committee.pdf?T=10
http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/g5732/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2013-Nov-2019%2009.25%20Economy%20Infrastructure%20and%20Skills%20Committee.pdf?T=10
http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/g5732/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2013-Nov-2019%2009.25%20Economy%20Infrastructure%20and%20Skills%20Committee.pdf?T=10


wish to access other services; employment, health care, education, retail, 
leisure, tourism or for the delivery of goods and services.  

 
3.10 Transport growth is linked to the economy, as the economy grows, so does 

the demand to travel. Initiatives such as City Deal exist to drive economic 
growth and close the significant gap in economic activity that exists 
between south east Wales and the regional economies across the rest of 
the UK. A successful City Deal will create a more prosperous region and 
will tend to lead to greater travel demand.  
 

3.11 RCT is engaged in numerous programmes of works, many of which have 
positive implications for reducing emissions and helping to de-carbonise 
transport.  These programmes should continue at pace. For example: 
 
- Making Better Use Programme; creating bus priority, increasing the 

efficiency of our network and reducing delays at junctions, enhancing 
traffic signals to include latest SCOOT and MOVA controllers. 

- Safe Routes to School / Safe Routes in Communities; to encourage 
walking and cycling – improved pedestrian and cycle facilities, new and 
upgraded crossings for pedestrians and cyclists, drop kerbs, cycle 
storage, traffic calming, 20mph limits, etc. 

- Bus Corridor Enhancements; reduce journey times, improving bus 
stops and shelters, providing bus boarding points to allow step free 
access, maintaining our bus stations and providing passengers with 
information on bus services. 

- Parking Enforcement; RCT employs 14 Civil Parking Enforcement 
Officers and 2 mobile camera vehicles to deal with obstructive parking, 
particularly outside schools, on zebra crossings and in marked bus 
stops. 

- Subsidised bus services; whilst approximately 92% of public transport 
services are run on a commercial basis, the council provides £625,630, 
which combined with Welsh Government funding and other cross 
boundary contributions enables a sum of £1,125,280 to be committed 
to contracted bus services to provide bus services in locations or at 
times of the days or week when commercial services are not viable.  In 
addition £7,435,270 is spent in RCT every year to provide 
approximately 60,000 residents with concessionary bus travel. 

- Park and Ride; the council has established an excellent track record in 
developing and delivering park and ride opportunities at railway 
stations, notably Abercynon P&R extension providing over 300 extra 
spaces in 2019. 

- Active Travel; RCT has delivered numerous Active Travel schemes 
across RCT, the most recent being Llantrisant Community Route and 
links.  This will be a key area of growth in future enabling shorter 
journeys that are currently made by car to transfer to walking or cycling, 
reducing congestion and vehicle emissions and improving health and 
wellbeing.  

 
 
 
  

Tudalen 25



 
4 OPPORTUNITIES FOR RCT 

 
4.1      Metro 

 
4.1.1 Metro has the potential to offer a credible, alternative and sustainable 

transport opportunity to enable car users to switch to public transport for 
many journeys. 
 

4.1.2 The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal has facilitated an investment of 
around £740 million towards the initial stages of transforming the transport 
network in south east Wales to create a Metro system. As part of the 
Wales-wide rail franchise, Transport for Wales (TfW) (a wholly owned 
arms-length company of Welsh Government) has let the 15-year £5Bn rail 
franchise to Keolis Amey, operating as Transport for Wales Rail Services.  
 

4.1.3 The initial investment will secure full electrification of the Core Valley Lines 
(CVL) within Rhondda Cynon Taf (and to Merthyr) together with new rolling 
stock. This will provide an electrified rail service with 4 trains per hour 
running to Treherbert, Aberdare and Merthyr, towards the end of 2022. The 
changes will also see the CVL rail lines, stations, etc (which includes those 
in RCT) coming under the direct control of TfW and transferring from 
Network Rail during 2020. 

  
4.1.4 There will also be a range of complimentary improvements to stations with 

potential for additional stations and park and ride expansion. A new rail 
depot is being developed at Taffs Well which will also accommodate the 
control centre for these rail services.  

 
4.1.5 Related Initiatives; As part of the joint City Deal/Welsh Government Metro 

Plus programme, a new integrated transport hub will be created at Porth. 
This will be the catalyst for further regeneration of the town. The scheme 
will enable bus and rail integration linking bus services from Rhondda 
Fach, Rhondda Fawr and from the Gilfach/Tonyrefail area with rail services 
at Porth. This integration will build on Metro principles and allow 
interchange with the 4 rail services an hour that will run each way from 
2023.   
Further work is in hand to consider the merits of creating a mass transit link 
from Cardiff, through the new developments in NW Cardiff and towards 
Beddau and Pontyclun in RCT.  
Studies have also commenced to consider extensions of the electrified rail 
service proposed for Aberdare, to extend towards Hirwaun.  
A new station is being promoted close to the new Department of Work and 
Pensions Offices at Trefforest Industrial Estate.  
Other studies are progressing to consider options for strategic park and 
ride facilities along the A470 and A4119 corridors and at other sites 
throughout the Rhondda, Cynon and Taf areas. Other related initiatives will 
also be developed. 

 
4.1.6 Metro must be more than rail and will need to integrate all forms of transport 

(including ticketing and information) to create a comprehensive, joined-up 

Tudalen 26



and coordinated network of routes and services across; rail, tram, bus, 
cycling, walking, whilst promoting more sustainable ways of fuelling private 
cars, freight and service vehicles. 

 
4.1.7 Bus is key to extending the reach of Metro to all communities, typically 

carrying 100 million passengers in Wales every year (4x more than rail). 
De-regulation of buses in 1985 has meant that bus operators such as 
Stagecoach, NAT, Edwards, etc are responsible for planning their 
networks, the routes, the frequencies, the stops, the fares, the days of the 
week and the time of day during which they run the services. This means 
that it is more challenging to plan and coordinate services between 
operators and to integrate with other transport modes. Welsh Government 
is currently promoting legislation which will enable buses to be regulated 
where it has not been possible to achieve satisfactory coordination by other 
measures. Commonly known as franchising, it may offer coordination 
benefits, but it should not obscure the fact that the main challenge for buses 
is road congestion.  

 
4.1.8 Ongoing traffic growth on constrained highway networks means that bus 

journeys are becoming slower and less reliable as roads become more and 
more congested. Operators are having to extend their timetables to 
maintain journey time compliance (or face fines from the Traffic 
Commissioner) and introduce additional vehicles into their rosters to 
maintain headways. This adds significant operational costs which are 
compounded by loss of income due to lower patronage. Costs are passed 
on to passengers or to the local authority as subsidies or the services are 
terminated.  

 
4.1.9 This is a vicious circle which will need significant capital and revenue 

investment to make bus attractive and grow patronage, moving people out 
of their cars and onto passenger transport. Difficult decisions will need to 
be made regarding respective priority and allocation of road space. 
 

4.1.10 Against a challenging commercial backdrop, progress is being made 
across the region with electric buses being introduced by Stagecoach, 
Newport Bus and Cardiff Bus.  Other commercial services are mainly being 
provided on newer vehicles many of which will be Euro 6 compliant.  This 
is partly driven by public sector bus quality requirements when procuring 
subsidised bus services. 

 
4.1.11 The financial commitments facilitated through the Cardiff Capital Regional 

City Deal in developing the Metro are hugely advantageous to RCT and 
provide a framework on which Metro will grow and expand across the 
region. Rhondda Cynon Taf has the opportunity to maximise the 
advantages presented by these early transformational investments.  

 
4.1.12 The Council is seeking to develop complimentary sustainable measures to 

stimulate economic growth and to make our communities more 
prosperous, building on the foundations of Metro in RCT. The Council has 
delivered significant growth in the number of park and ride spaces available 

Tudalen 27



and will continue with this work in conjunction with Welsh Government and 
TfW. 

 
4.1.13 Active Travel enhancements will be accelerated to enable active travel 

links to stations and interchanges and between our communities and town 
centres. This will also encourage active and healthy lifestyles aligned with 
Corporate Plan priorities. Options for bike hire, including electric bikes will 
be considered. 

 
4.1.14 Land use planning through the development of the new Local Development 

Plan should seek to focus development on transport hubs to maximise the 
benefits of Metro. 
 

4.2     Electric Vehicles (EV) and Charging Infrastructure. 
 
4.2.1  The Council is currently working with the CCRCD/CCRTA to develop a 

regional approach to the introduction of EV charging infrastructure across 
strategic Council owned sites and on a strategy to convert all taxis to EV 
by the Welsh Government target date of 2028. 

 
4.2.2 The Taxi Strategy for South East Wales was recently approved by the 

CCRTA and will involve further work across the ten councils and their 
respective Taxi Licencing teams and taxi operators; 
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/item-
6-taxi-strategy-for-south-east-wales-appendix-1.pdf 

 
4.2.3 The Cardiff Metro Infrastructure Review includes independent review of the 

area and offers a number of recommendations regarding a way forward 
which are currently proceeding; 
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-tent/uploads/2019/02/appendix-
3-cardiff-metro-infrastructure-review-cenex.pdf 

 
4.2.4 Further work on commercialisation is being concluded and is likely to lead 

to a procurement process involving numerous councils (and potentially 
Welsh Government) to secure a commercial delivery partner. This will 
provide an initial framework of public EV charging points upon which the 
commercial providers will be expected to develop a wider offer. It is notable 
that commercial charging points are starting to be delivered in local 
supermarkets across RCT.   

 
4.2.5 Three bus companies have recently been granted funding to develop 

electric bus services in the region, Newport Bus, Cardiff Bus, Stagecoach 
Caerphilly. The expansion of the services, which involve investment in new 
buses and charging infrastructure, will be an aspiration for the region. 

 
4.2.6 The Council’s own fleet is predominantly diesel based and will itself be 

subject to review with the intention of moving towards more sustainable 
forms of fuel as the market for suitable vehicles matures and cost effective 
and fit for purpose solutions emerge. The Council is currently trialling hybrid 
and EV options and will monitor the potential for other sustainable fuel 
solutions for larger fleet vehicles (such as hydrogen). 

Tudalen 28

https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/item-6-taxi-strategy-for-south-east-wales-appendix-1.pdf
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/item-6-taxi-strategy-for-south-east-wales-appendix-1.pdf
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-tent/uploads/2019/02/appendix-3-cardiff-metro-infrastructure-review-cenex.pdf
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-tent/uploads/2019/02/appendix-3-cardiff-metro-infrastructure-review-cenex.pdf


 
4.2.7 Use of pool cars to reduce internal travel costs has been effective and has 

also lead to informal car sharing or use of public transport as staff no longer 
need to have their own car available at work for work related travel. The 
extent of this impact is not known and there is not a formal car-sharing 
initiative in place.  

 
4.3 Complementary Strategies and Demand Management 

  
4.3.2 Home to School Transport 
 
4.3.3 The Council also commissions significant volumes of transport services 

through its Home to School transport commitments. Whilst the options to 
convert these services to greener energy are limited, RCT’s approach to 
school transport offers significant benefits for sustainable travel, 
particularly in respect of; 

 
• The Council’s generous eligibility criteria means that proportionately 

more pupils travel to school by bus than would be the case if the Council 
operated at statutory distances and age groups. Consequently, the 
Council operates the largest schools transport operation in the country 
meaning that far less parents feel the need to transport their pupils to 
school. This reduces overall carbon emissions from the “school run” and 
also has the beneficial effect of reducing the amount of traffic on our 
roads and levels of congestion – this has benefits for air quality. 
 

• The Council operates the most efficient school transport operation in the 
country with its vehicle occupancy rates (i.e. number of pupils per bus) 
being the highest in Wales. Combined with smart route planning, this 
means that the service is provided with the fewest number of buses 
possible. 

 
4.3.4 Land Use Planning 

 
4.3.5 The Council will shortly been to review its Local Development Plan. This 

will need to consider a) how appropriate land use can reduce the need 
to travel or b) how land use can influence travel choices. Planning Policy 
Wales Edition 10 has placed a new emphasis on sustainable forms of 
development. 

 
4.3.6 At the present time, some 100,000 commuters travel into Cardiff for 

employment every day, many of those from RCT. Whilst Metro has a 
role to play in the necessary growth of the city, the extreme tidal nature 
of travel demand is unsustainable in itself and polycentric growth across 
the region must be used as a tool to balance travel flows and reduce 
journey distances. The establishment of Transport for Wales offices in 
Pontypridd is an excellent example of how such growth should be 
targeted at other major centres across the region where there are 
excellent public transport options. Such investments can also 
complement and help to sustain our town centres. 

 

Tudalen 29



 
4.3.7 Technology 

 
4.3.8 Digital technology offers the opportunity to help to limit the need to 

travel. Agile and home working can reduce the number of work related 
trips that we make and skype, video conferencing, etc, can reduce the 
need to travel to attend meetings, etc, this is pertinent to RCT as we 
operate over a number of sites across the county borough. 

 
4.3.9 Technology is also underpinning the development of new transport 

models; Mobility-as-a-Service (MaaS) is beginning to deliver integrated 
journey planning via apps and reducing reliance on car ownership. 

 
4.3.10 Car Parking Charging Strategies  

 
4.3.10 These local strategies can influence mode choice and reduce the 

attractiveness of car over other modes. Car park charges are emotive and 
involve wider considerations such as the ongoing viability of our town 
centres. 

 
4.3.11 Congestion Charging or Workplace Car Park Charging 

 
4.3.12 As introduced by London and Nottingham respectively, they discourage 

car use and can provide a revenue stream for investment in sustainable 
transport (e.g. work place charging provided a revenue stream to enable 
capital borrowing to initiate Nottingham Tram). These measures are more 
appropriate for consideration by major cities but could influence mode 
choice in RCT if introduced elsewhere. 

 
4.3.13 Taxation 

 
4.3.14 Essentially a high level policy tool for central and national government. 

The fuel tax escalator was introduced by central government to stem 
traffic growth. It proved to be both effective and deeply unpopular. Whilst 
in operation, traffic growth levelled off and started to decline but 
widespread unrest lead to it being suspended with the consequence that 
traffic growth resumed at similar levels to those experienced before the 
impact of the escalator. 
 

4.3.15 Vehicle taxation has also been used to influence choice of vehicle 
purchase with more polluting vehicles attracting higher levels of taxation 
depending on fuel type and CO2 emissions. 

 
5 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1      Equality and Diversity issues will be considered as part of determining the    

 final detail of proposed schemes or emerging strategies. 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 30



 
6 CONSULTATION  

 
6.1 There are no consultation requirements relating directly to the report.  

 
7 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

 
7.1 The report provides information which highlights measures and initiatives 

that can support the de-carbonisation of transport.  Creating the conditions 
to achieve modal switch from cars to sustainable transport alternatives will 
require major capital investment in infrastructure and ongoing enhanced 
revenue investment in services, along with strategies to win hearts and 
minds. Some of the cost may be offset by income from demand 
management measures but these will generally be more regional in nature. 

 
7.2 Actions or policy changes will require further reports which will involve 

detailed consideration of the financial aspects of any recommendations.  
 
8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  
 
8.1 The report provides information regarding de-carbonising transport.  

Actions or policy changes will require further reports which will involve 
detailed consideration of legal aspects of any recommendations. 

 
9 LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT. 
 

9.1 Action to reduce the impact of carbon emissions from the transport sector 
are linked to and support several local and national policy documents and 
plans. In addition to the details outlined in Section 3 of this report, the 
actions set out will enable the Council to maximise its contribution to all 
seven of the well-being goals contained in the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act 2015. 
 

9.2 The actions will also assist the Council in delivering the three main 
priorities, and associated commitments, contained within its Corporate 
Plan covering the period 2020 – 2024. 
 

9.3 The other major Plan covering RCT which is relevant in this context is the 
Well-being Plan of the Cwm Taf Public Services Board. One of the 
objectives in this document is to “help people live long and healthy lives 
and overcome any challenges”. Improving air quality and encouraging 
more active travel journeys will help to tackle the problems of obesity that 
exist and premature respiratory related deaths that occur within the Cwm 
Taf area. 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 31



10 CONCLUSION 
 

10.1 Travel demand is complex and influenced by a range of factors. It is a 
derived demand which will tend to increase with economic growth and 
prosperity. 

 
10.2 RCT has many levers at its disposal related to transport infrastructure and 

services, its own fleet and travel demands, and these must be maximised 
in favour of; 

 
 

• Eliminating or reducing the need to travel 
• Encouraging and promoting sustainable transport infrastructure and 

services 
• Working with the Capital Region to engage, influence and develop 

regional and national initiatives to minimise carbon emissions and 
change transport mode 

 
10.3 The following potential specific actions are offered for consideration.   

Consideration should be given to; 
 

1. Collaboration at regional and national level to develop high level 
coordinated strategies to decarbonise transport. 

2. Seek to maximise the benefits of Metro to RCT by promoting 
complementary programmes of investment that enable sustainable 
growth. 

3. Accelerate Active Travel infrastructure provision and promote the 
benefits of active travel. 

4. Assess the merits of promoting Transit Oriented Development via the 
Local Development Plan and proposed Strategic Development Plan  

5. Continued collaboration with the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, the 
Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority and Welsh Government to 
introduce: 

 
i. EV Charging Infrastructure 
ii. EV Taxis 
iii. EV Public Bus Services 

 
6. Continue to trial low carbon vehicles for its own fleet and introduce a 

programme for phased implementation of LCV’s as appropriate and fit 
for purpose vehicles enter the market. 

7. Establish a base-line of staff travel to work modes and develop 
strategies to enable and promote sustainable travel to work. 

8. Work to encourage polycentric growth across the region to reduce the 
length of travel to work 

9. Engage in any future considerations related to congestion or workplace 
charging proposals, should they be promoted anywhere in the region or 
at a location that has implications for RCT. 

10. Maximise the benefits of technology to reduce the need to travel or to 
travel more sustainably. 

Tudalen 32



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CLIMATE CHANGE STEERING GROUP

28TH JANUARY 2020

CONSULTATION ON THE DRAFT WILDFLOWER GRASS MANAGEMENT 
POLICY FOR RHONDDA CYNON TAF

REPORT OF THE GROUP DIRECTOR, PROSPERITY, DEVELOPMENT & 
FRONTLINE SERVICES AND THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH, 
PROTECTION & COMMUNITY SERVICES DISCUSSION WITH THE 

CABINET’S CLIMATE CHANGE CHAMPION (COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS)

Author:  Elizabeth Dean, Environment Planner – 01443 562242

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to consult the Steering Group on the draft 
Wildflower Grass Management Policy for Rhondda Cynon Taf.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Steering Group:

2.1 Comment on the draft Wildflower Grass Management Policy, and

2.2 That the feedback and comments of the Climate Control Cabinet 
Steering Group are reported to Cabinet to inform their decision with 
regard to the policy.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 Land management has significant climate change and biodiversity 
impacts.  The grassland management policy seeks to address these, 
whilst continuing to meet the Council’s Corporate priorities.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1    Two earlier reports (2015 and 2017) have been considered by Scrutiny 
committee regarding wildflower grass management and pollinators. For 
a number of years, grassland management pilots have been underway 
on a limited number of sites in parks, on road verges and key 
countryside sites.  These pilots have enabled the Council to explore the 
issues, to test sustainability, to monitor the biodiversity impact and 
inform the development of this draft Wildflower Grass Management 
Policy. 

Tudalen 33

Agendwm 5



4.2 In recent years, the loss of wildflower grassland habitats and the 
pollinating insects they support has become an issue of public concern. 
Publically owned grasslands and grass verges have significant 
potential as reservoirs of wildflower rich habitat that can contribute to 
reconnecting and restoring grassland biodiversity. As these areas are 
in public view, they also offer opportunities for awareness raising, local 
community support and action.  A number of the pilot projects were 
suggested by residents or Councillors and some local communities 
helped to develop ‘Grab a Rake’ (see Appendix 2).

4.3 The management of Council owned land for biodiversity has been an 
important priority within ‘Action for Nature: the Local Biodiversity Action 
Plan for Rhondda Cynon Taf’.  In recent years, grassland management 
has also been recognised in the actions undertaken to meet the 
Council’s Biodiversity Duty under S6. Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  
Cross departmental working is fundamental to this, in particular as 
grass cutting has been transferred from Parks and Countryside to 
Streetcare. 

4.4 It is important to appreciate that a wildflower management approach is 
not about abandonment.  Active management is required for native 
wildflowers and their pollinators to thrive.  Grass is left uncut until the 
flowers have set seed but later in the year it is cut and the grass is 
collected into ‘habitat piles’.  The collection of the cuttings is an 
essential part of the process.  It removes nutrients, lowers the soil 
fertility and prevents a ‘thatch’ of dead grass inhibiting wildflower seed 
growth.  Over time, the percentage of grass decreases and the 
percentage of wildflowers will increase.  On larger sites, conservation 
grazing may be the most sustainable option.

4.5 In Rhondda Cynon Taf, we are very fortunate to have a wide range of 
native wildflowers growing naturally in our fields, verges and 
woodlands.  All these plants are perfectly adapted to the soil, climate 
and habitat and are part of the ‘ecosystem’ providing food not only for 
pollinators but for many insects and other animals.  This is the 
foundation of our unique biodiversity.  Sadly, this has been lost in some 
other parts of the UK.

4.6 The proposed Rhondda Cynon Taf grassland and grass-verge 
biodiversity management policy is ‘to increase the area and extent of 
wildflower rich grassland habitat in the County Borough in 
support of the Council’s Biodiversity Duty and ‘Action for Nature: 
the Local Biodiversity Action Plan’.  

The key principles in support of the policy are:

Tudalen 34



 To identify sites where there are no over-riding health and safety 
constraints to changed grassland management.

 To ensure changes in grass and grass-verge management are 
broadly supported by local people.

 To pick sites with the highest potential for biodiversity improvement. 
The measure of potential includes consideration of:

a) Existing wildflower composition;
b) Larger sites being better than small ones;
c) Sites which help to create habitat connectivity within the local 

landscape; 
d) Sites which help ‘fill in’ gaps in the network of sites across the 

County Borough.

 To pick sites where appropriate vehicle access is available.
 To ensure sites have necessary ‘eco-pile’ composting capacity.
 Where appropriate, to establish conservation grazing sites on large 

sites. 
 Integrate management with Japanese Knotweed, Himalayan 

Balsam and other invasive plant control.
 Develop site interpretation at a scale and form appropriate to the 

site and location, and co-ordinate via the Council web site using the 
‘brimstone butterfly’ emblem as the project logo.

 Where appropriate, link local communities and interest groups with 
site management for awareness raising, training, the recording of 
wildflowers and insects and to promote ‘Grab a Rake’ community 
raking.

 On ‘cut and collect’ sites, visibility splays and access paths will 
continue to be cut more regularly.

 In some cases not all the wildflower grass needs to be cut and 
collected each year. Staggered biennial cutting can ensure even 
better pollinating insect habitat and that some wildflower seeds are 
available to seed eating birds as winter food. 

 Even grassland that initially has few wildflowers can quickly 
diversify with biodiversity management, however in these cases the 
floristic improvements can be accelerated by planting spring bulbs. 
These will provide an instant reaction to new management and the 
‘hay meadow’ management will ensure the plants can 
photosynthesize after flowering and develop strong bulbs for 
flowering the next spring.

Tudalen 35



 Map, record and report progress through the Biodiversity Duty and 
the Local Biodiversity Action Plan.

4.7 The draft Policy on Wildflower Grass Management is set out in 
Appendix 1. In 2020, it is proposed that the number of sites in 
wildflower management will be increased and that website and social 
media will be utilised to engage with local communities.  Local 
Members, residents and officers have identified a number of suitable 
sites and it is anticipated that this will continue in subsequent years.  If 
the policy is adopted by the Council, it will provide clear guidelines for 
the future development of the programme.   

5. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no equality or diversity implications as a result of the 
recommendations set out in the report.

6. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT

6.1 The draft policy has been developed in consultation with Council staff 
who have responsibility and practical expertise in grassland 
management as well the Council’s ecologist.  Local residents and 
Councillors have contributed to the pilot projects, some being actively 
involved in ‘Grab a Rake’ to remove cuttings from small sites which are 
unsuitable for ‘cut and collect’ machinery.

6.2 The future development of the wildflower grass cutting programme will 
continue to involve local Councillors and residents.  Website and social 
media are proposed to provide a channel for information, awareness 
raising and involvement. 

6.3 The views of this Steering Group will make an important contribution 
and inform the deliberations of Cabinet.

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  

7.1 There are likely to be some minor financial implications associated with 
this report. The Council’s grassland management budget is significant 
and the changes proposed can largely be accommodated within this.  
There may be additional costs associated with removing cut material, 
however this should be balanced but the reduced frequency of cuts on 
these sites.  The pilots have demonstrated that, over time, the volume 
of cut material decreases as the wildflower percentage increases. 

7.2 Site signage is likely to be expanded, using the brimstone butterfly 
emblem, to mark sites in conservation management.  The machinery 
required for ‘cut and collect’ is different to routine grass cutting and its 
use requires training for the operatives.  The current tracked machine 

Tudalen 36



has a large capacity and is suitable for cutting wet ground outside the 
routine grass cutting season.  The machine and the initial staff training 
was largely funded by grant aid from Natural Resources Wales.  As the 
programme develops, there will be a need for additional machinery (in 
particular for smaller sites) for repairs and eventual replacement and 
for additional staff training.  

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 

8.1 The Council has a statutory biodiversity duty under S.6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016  and general responsibilities with regard 
to land management under various Acts including Highways legislation.

9. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND 
THE WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT.

9.1 The draft policy on Wildflower Grass Management contributes to the 
Council’s PLACE priority for creating neighbourhoods where people 
are proud to live and work.  It also contributes to ‘providing essential 
services well’, ‘help people and communities to help themselves’ and to 
‘build a sustainable County Borough’ as set out in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan 2016-2020.  The Council is currently undertaking initial 
discussions with regard to the next Corporate Plan for the period 2020-
2024 which is likely to contain further consideration of the climate 
emergency and biodiversity loss.

9.2 The draft policy reflects the five ways of working of the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act.  It has been developed collaboratively, 
drawing on the skills of practitioners, other local authorities and NRW 
with the involvement of local residents and Councillors.  It is designed 
to deliver sustainable, long -term benefits and prevent the loss of 
native wildflowers and the biodiversity that depends on this habitat.  
The Policy seeks to integrate this approach within the existing grass 
cutting service, expand the number of sites gradually, learn from 
experience and share this via social media. 

9.3 The draft policy relates most closely to the Resilience and Global 
Responsibility goals of the Act but the extension of the programme 
more widely across RCT will contribute to the Equality and Cohesive 
Communities goals.  The impact on the Prosperity, Health and Cultural 
/Welsh Language goals is likely to be positive.

10. CONCLUSION

Tudalen 37



10.1 Members of the Climate Control Cabinet Steering Group are requested 
to consider the information presented in this report and are invited to 
comment on the Draft Policy on Wildflower Grass Management

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/E
nvironmentalServicesScrutinyCommittee/2015/04/20/Reports/item4actiontosafeguard
pollinatinginsectsinrct.pdf

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/P
ublicServiceDeliveryCommunitiesandProsperityScrutinyCommittee/2017/12/12/Report
s/AgendaItem3TheEnvironmentActWales2015BiodiversityDutyandPollinators.pdf

Tudalen 38

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/EnvironmentalServicesScrutinyCommittee/2015/04/20/Reports/item4actiontosafeguardpollinatinginsectsinrct.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/EnvironmentalServicesScrutinyCommittee/2015/04/20/Reports/item4actiontosafeguardpollinatinginsectsinrct.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/EnvironmentalServicesScrutinyCommittee/2015/04/20/Reports/item4actiontosafeguardpollinatinginsectsinrct.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/PublicServiceDeliveryCommunitiesandProsperityScrutinyCommittee/2017/12/12/Reports/AgendaItem3TheEnvironmentActWales2015BiodiversityDutyandPollinators.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/PublicServiceDeliveryCommunitiesandProsperityScrutinyCommittee/2017/12/12/Reports/AgendaItem3TheEnvironmentActWales2015BiodiversityDutyandPollinators.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/PublicServiceDeliveryCommunitiesandProsperityScrutinyCommittee/2017/12/12/Reports/AgendaItem3TheEnvironmentActWales2015BiodiversityDutyandPollinators.pdf


Appendix One

A Policy on Wildflower Grass Management 

This note sets out the policy position for biodiversity grass verge and open 
space management in Rhondda Cynon Taf. For a variety of fortunate 
reasons, highway grass verges, open spaces, parks and school grounds in 
Rhondda Cynon Taf are often rich in native wildflowers and support ‘priority’ 
grassland habitat. In recent years, the loss of wildflower grassland habitats 
and the pollinating insects they support has become an issue of significant 
public concern. Strategies to restore grassland biodiversity have been 
developed and publically owned grasslands and grass verges are increasingly 
seen as important reservoirs of wildflower rich habitat. A resource which if 
managed sympathetically, can help to reconnect and restore grassland 
biodiversity. Being in the public view, these areas also offer excellent 
opportunities for awareness raising and local community support and action. 
Wildflower grassland and grass verge management also involves integrated 
cross department working in support of Action for Nature:  the Local 
Biodiversity Action Plan for RCT and the Council’s new Biodiversity Duty.   

It is important to recognise that wildflower management is not abandonment 
of land. Wildflowers need management to thrive and wildflower grasslands 
are traditionally maintained either by cutting or grazing. In very simple terms, 
biodiversity management requires grass to be left uncut in the spring and 
summer in order for flowers to ‘flower and seed’ , and only then are cut, with 
all ‘arisings’ collected.  The collection of the cut grass is essential, because in 
doing so it removes nutrients from the soil which has the dual impact of 
reducing grass growth and increasing wildflower diversity and abundance. 
Collection also ensures that dead grass isn’t allowed to form a mulch which 
can smother the wildflowers beneath. On grasslands where cut material is not 
collected, wildflowers will not flourish. Indeed changes of management which 
see grasslands cut once or twice a year but with the cuttings left is proving 
worse for wildflower diversity than traditional regular grass cutting. Again, it is 
important to re-iterate that wildflower grassland management is not 
abandonment. 

Once collected the cut material can often be composted on site in special 
‘eco-piles’, which act as hibernation areas and refuges for reptiles. Where 
there is no space, the cut material can be removed for composting elsewhere. 
The removal of cut material is essential. It is also the most difficult element of 
wildflower management and it is one of the first questions that need to be 
considered when changing management to a wildflower regime. In most 
cases cut and collection will be by machine, however on some small sites 
community raking up of cut grass through the ‘grab a rake’ initiative with the 
green bagging of cut grass for waste collection is a viable option. On larger 
sites, where opportunities arise, conservation grazing is a very effective 
wildflower management tool.  RCT Council runs a number of conservation 
grazing sites.

Tudalen 39



On steep banks collection of cut grass by machine is impossible.  Here gravity 
assists, as cut grass ‘works down’ to the bottom of banks, leaving at least the 
upper parts wildflower rich. In such circumstances, where community 
volunteer help is available, hand raking can help the bottom of the bank. 
The RCT grass and grass-verge biodiversity management policy is ‘to 
increase the area and extent of wildflower rich grassland habitat in the 
County Borough in support of the Council’s Biodiversity Duty and 
‘Action for Nature: the Local Biodiversity Action Plan’.

Key principles in support of the policy include:

1. To identify sites where there are no over-riding health and safety 
constraints to changed grassland management.

2. To ensure changes in grass and grass-verge management are broadly 
supported by local people.

3. To pick sites with the highest potential for biodiversity improvement. 
The measure of potential includes consideration of:

a) Existing wildflower composition;
b) Larger sites being  better than small ones;
c) Sites which help to create habitat connectivity within the local 

landscape; 
d) Sites which help ‘fill in’ gaps in the network of sites across the 

County Borough.
4. To pick sites where appropriate vehicle access is available.
5. To ensure sites have necessary ‘eco-pile’ composting capacity.
6. Where appropriate to establish conservation grazing sites on large 

sites.
7. Integrate management with Japanese Knotweed, Himalayan Balsam 

and other invasive plant control.
8. Develop site interpretation at a scale and form appropriate to the site 

and location, and co-ordinate via the Council web site using the 
‘brimstone butterfly’ emblem as the project logo.

9. Where appropriate link local communities and interest groups with site 
management for awareness raising, training, the recording of 
wildflowers and insects and to promote ‘Grab a Rake’ community 
raking. 

10. On ‘cut and collect’ sites, visibility splays and access paths will 
continue to be cut more regularly.

11. In some cases not all the wildflower grass needs to be cut and 
collected each year. Staggered biennial cutting can ensure even better 
pollinating insect habitat and that some wildflower seeds are available 
to seed eating birds as winter food.

Tudalen 40



12. Even grassland which initially have few wildflowers can quickly diversify 
with biodiversity management, however in these cases the floristic 
improvements can be accelerated by planting spring bulb. These will 
provide an instant reaction to new management and the ‘hay meadow’ 
management will ensure the plants can photosynthesize after flowering 
and develop strong bulbs for flowering the next spring.

13. Map, record and report progress through the Biodiversity Duty and 
Local Biodiversity Action Plan.

Tudalen 41



Appendix Two

A brief guide to managing grass for Biodiversity

What changes are taking place in terms of grass management?

At present, most of our grass verges and parks are cut regularly (every four 
weeks or so). However, this does not give a chance for wild flowers to flower 
and go to seed as the grass is cut quite short. Less wild flowers mean that 
there is less food for insects and in turn, less insects mean less food for other 
animals. In addition, when we cut the grass, some of the clippings are left on 
the surface; they then get washed into the grass by rain, people walking 
through etc. These clippings then sit at the surface of the ground, suppress 
some of the light which stop wild flowers from coming up and as the clippings 
break down, they feed the grass. This improves the growing conditions for the 
grass so the grass gets stronger and the wild flowers cannot compete with it. 
It is important to note that for wild flowers to grow successfully, they need to 
grow on poor soils. By cutting the grass the way we do, we are encouraging 
more grass and less flowers; therefore, less biodiversity.
To change this trend, we have identified areas in some parks, grass verges 
and cemeteries where we could let the grass grow for a longer period of time. 
This will help wild flowers to complete their life cycle (namely: come up, flower 
and go to seed) before being cut and collected. By doing this, over time, we 
will see less grass and more wild flowers coming through. More wild flowers 
means more pollen and nectar for insects which means that they are more 
likely to breed and increase their numbers.

What is ‘Grab your Rake’?

‘Grab your Rake’ is a campaign devised to involve the local community in the 
management of some of our grass verges left for biodiversity.
It is aimed at anyone who would like to spend a couple of hours outdoors to 
help us rake an area after it has been strimmed; pile up the clippings and bag 
them ready to be recycled/ composted. On some sites, we may be able to 
create habitat piles for other animals such as reptiles which are also species 
under threat.

What tools/ equipment is required?

The only things needed are: a rake and a pair of gloves.

Taking Health and Safety into consideration

The areas selected under the ‘Grab your Rake’ campaign may be located 
near busy roads. It is therefore important to brief people beforehand and to 
ensure the following:

Tudalen 42



- Remind individuals to be mindful of the nearby road and their 
positioning when working

- Signs should be on site to forewarn drivers

- Cones may be used to create a safety buffer away between the 
road and the work area should this be needed

- When using a rake, rake towards you – not away from you. This 
will reduce the amount of physical stress on the body

- Safe distances should be maintained when working so as to 
prevent hitting each other with tools

- Gloves should be worn at all times especially when bagging the 
clippings

- Bags should not be overfilled so as to cause injury when lifting. 
Remind individuals to lift with their knees not with their back – 
good manual handling technique

- Remember to wash hands before eating

Other community activities

As the ‘Grab your Rake’ campaign will take place primarily over late summer 
and early autumn, we would like to invite the community to help us plant some 
of those biodiversity areas with bulbs or even some devil’s bit scabious which 
is one of the main food source for insects in RCT.
This is a good project to involve young children and teach them about planting 
bulbs in grass as if they had always been there. This will also provide some 
colour and interest until the rest of the wild flowers start to come up.

Method of planting daffodils:

The best way to plant daffodils is to lift a patch of turf and scatter the bulbs. 
Where the bulbs fall is where they to be planted. All of this will give a more 
natural look once the daffodils are in flower. Make sure however that you 
leave plenty of space between each bulb so it has space to spread. Before 
replacing the turf, you need to score the underside of the turf to loosen the 
soil, replace it and only if possible water the area. As a rule, planting depth 
should be 3 times the height of the bulb.

Tools required: spade; fork; hand trowel and gloves.

Tudalen 43



Tudalen wag



 

 

 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE STEERING GROUP 
 

28TH JANUARY 2020 
 

WHAT ACTION CAN BE TAKEN IN THE AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREAS, 
TO ENSURE AIR QUALITY IMPROVES ACROSS THE COUNTY BOROUGH 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH, PROTECTION & COMMUNITY 
SERVICES DISCUSSION WITH THE CABINET’S CLIMATE CHANGE CHAMPION 
(COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS) 

 
Author(s): Neil Pilliner, Environmental Protection & Housing Standards 
Manager, Gareth Purnell, Pollution Control Officer  
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider what action can be taken in the Air 

Quality Management Areas, to ensure air quality improves across the County 
Borough. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended to note the contents of this report as part of the ongoing 

work of the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group and recommend a way 
forward for Cabinet. 

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The contents of this report provides key air quality information as required by 

the Discussion Paper ‘Work Programme for the Climate Change Cabinet 
Steering Group’ 

 
4. BACKGROUND TO LOCAL AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT 
 
4.1 It has been understood for some time that the quality of air that people 

experience can have a substantial effect on their health and wellbeing. Since 
the first half of the 20th century, awareness amongst the general public of the 
importance of air quality has increased significantly. Originally emphasised 
within the UK by the visually dramatic sulphurous smog events of the 50s, then 
subsequently by the phasing out of anti-knocking lead in petrol during the 90s 
and up to the present day by photochemical smog associated with international 
cities such as Los Angeles, New Delhi and Beijing. 

Tudalen 45

Agendwm 6



 

4.2 Although indoor air quality can be highly relevant to a person’s health, by 
necessity Local Air Quality Management is focused upon the public’s exposure 
to outdoor air pollutants1. 

 
4.3 The understanding of air quality has substantively evolved over time as the 

causes of air pollution have changed.  Within Rhondda Cynon Taf, as is the 
case throughout Wales, Nitrogen Dioxide2 [NO2] and Particulate Matter3 [PM10] 
are of the most concern, due to their ubiquitous prevalence and potential 
significant impact upon public health.  Short-term exposure to elevated levels 
of Particulate Matter [PM10] has been shown to cause eye, nose and throat 
irritation, asthma symptom exacerbation, headaches and nausea. Longer-term 
exposure has been linked to an increase in morbidity4 and higher mortality risks 
associated with heart disease, stroke, respiratory diseases, lung cancer, etc. 
The Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP) has 
established that short-term exposure to NO2, particularly at high 
concentrations, is a respiratory irritant that can cause inflammation of the 
airways leading to, for example, cough, production of mucus and shortness of 
breath. Studies have shown associations of NO2 in outdoor air with reduced 
lung development, and respiratory infections in early childhood and effects on 
lung function in adulthood. 

 
4.4 Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK and 

is a public health priority for Wales.  It has been estimated that the annual 
mortality burden of human-made air pollution in the UK is 28,000 to 36,000 
deaths every year, in comparison 20,000 deaths have been attributed to alcohol 
related diseases and obesity is currently believed to be responsible for more 
than 30,000 deaths every year.  It is understood that often the most vulnerable 
within our communities are most at risk from the potential effects of air 
pollutants and perversely are more often likely to experience it. The unborn 
child, children, the old, those suffering from certain common medical conditions 
and those on low incomes can be particularly vulnerable to poor air quality. 
Although the discussion on air quality focuses upon public health, poor air 
quality can also cause, agricultural and ecological damage, property 
devaluation and entrench economic disparity. 

 
4.5 Acknowledging the strategic role local government can have in managing air 

quality, relevant legislation and associated regulations have been enacted.  
Notably the Clean Air Act 19935, Environmental Protection Act 19906, 

                                                           
1 Seven ‘pollutants of concern’ relevant to Local Air Quality Management are Carbon Monoxide (CO), Benzene 
(C6H6), Butadiene (C4H6), Lead (Pb), Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2), Particulate Matter (PM10) & Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 
2 A gas made from Nitrogen and Oxygen, often formed by complex chemical interactions and heavily associated 
with emissions from high temperature combustion processes, in very high concentrations it can appear brownish 
and have an acrid odour but in concentrations normally encountered in the environment it is imperceptible. 
3 Particulate Matter is a generic term to describe a complex mixture of solid and semi-liquid particles of varying 
size, shape and composition.  A range of man-made and natural activities as well as the interaction of other air 
pollutants can produce Particulate Matter. PM10 refers to Particle Matter of a size normally less than 10µm, 
which are invisible to the human eye, but can be inhaled into the airways and lungs of people. 
4 The incidence of disease within the population 
5 The regulation of emissions from certain small industrial and domestic sources of air pollution, however, it is 
widely acknowledged that the legislation may have become outdated and lacks relevance.  
6 Mechanism to prevent or control certain types of statutory nuisance that can cause air pollution. 

Tudalen 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution
https://gov.wales/air-quality-management-guidance-local-authorities
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution


 

Environment Act 19957, Pollution Prevention and Control Act 20008 and the 
Well-being of Future Generations Wales Act 20159. This has resulted in 
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC having a number of statutory duties to not only 
prevent or control air pollution but also to actively assess and intervene to 
improve local air quality where it can. 

 
5. ASSESSING LOCAL AIR QUALITY IN RHONDDA CYNON TAF 
 
5.1 Local Air Quality Management can cut across many areas of Local 

Government. Although primarily it has relevance to Public Health, it can also 
have a role within Environmental Regulation & Enforcement, Development 
Control, Housing, Highways, Fleet Management, Corporate Estates, Ecology 
and Education.   

 
5.2 Statutory guidance provides detailed instruction on how local authorities should 

go about assessing air quality to confirm if any Air Quality Objectives are being 
exceeded10. These Air Quality Objectives relate to outdoor locations where air 
pollutants are most likely to be elevated and where the public11, irrespective of 
who they are, is likely to be present for long enough to be potentially effected 
by them. If an Air Quality Objective is not achieved, guidance sets out how Local 
Authorities should go about considering the implementation of actions to work 
towards achieving future compliance. 

 
5.3 Having regard to guidance, published national assessment, local 

understanding, desktop analysis and current technical capabilities, the Local 
Authority has developed a network of air quality monitoring locations throughout 
its area.  Since the millennium, it has examined over 134 locations with current12 
monitoring arrangements assessing 55 targeted roadside locations for Nitrogen 
Dioxide [NO2] and one specific area of interest for Particulate Matter [PM10] 
associated with a local quarry. 

 
5.4 The current monitoring network makes use of several different approved 

automatic13 and non-automatic14 monitoring techniques. With the gathered 
data routinely published online collaboratively with Welsh Government. It is not 
always possible, either as a result of logistics or resources, to monitor all 
relevant locations and in certain circumstances the Local Authority has, where 
appropriate, had regard to computer ‘modelling’ to indicate the likely levels of 
air pollutants at particular locations. 

 
5.5 Every year, the Local Authority publishes online an annual Air Quality Progress 

Report.  This provides the preceding years ratified monitoring data, an overview 

                                                           
7 Legal framework for Local Air Quality Management, including the duty to assess and intervene. 
8 Permitting of certain industrial activities and their emissions. 
9 Enshrines the seven “Well-being Goals” and the importance of sustainable development.  
10 Absolute concentration values(s) set for each relevant pollutant over specific exposure periods 
11 This does not include workers but does include the public attending a workplace (e.g. a library) 
12 As of January 2020 
13 Analyses the air pollutant at location and provides a real-time indication of its concentration. 
14 Requires subsequent analysis in a laboratory to determine the air pollutants concentrations. 

Tudalen 47

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/technical-guidance/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2000/1940/made
https://airquality.gov.wales/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LicencesandPermits/Pollutionrelatedlicences/Airquality.aspx


 

of actions that could affect local air quality and an assessment of current Local 
Air Quality Management.   

 
5.6 As a result of the integration of the Future Generations ethos, a dual approach 

to Local Air Quality Management is developing.  This burden reduction 
approach recognises that for many air pollutants, the less people are exposed 
to them, the better it will be in terms of public health.  The Future Generations 
agenda has also led to the consideration of air quality holistically, rather than in 
isolation, as part of the multi-agenda approach with particular emphasis on local 
transport, noise, climate change, active travel and green-infrastructure. 

 
5.7 Adverse environmental noise can also markedly affect public health. In 

recognition of the close relationship between areas of elevated levels of air 
pollution and human-made environmental noise, Local Air Quality Management 
also evaluates its role in achieving Noise Action Plan Priority Area [NAPPA] 
improvements.  There are a number of NAPPAs within Rhondda Cynon Taf, 
many of these areas have also been declared Air Quality Management Areas.   

 
5.8 In recognising the importance of health inequality and local air quality, the Local 

Authority has assisted its partners, Public Health Wales, Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
UHB, Natural Resources Wales and Merthyr Tydfil CBC, with the development 
of the Health and Air Pollution Risk Assessment/Area Prioritisation (HAP-RAP) 
analytical tool.  This has been used to identify those communities15 within 
Rhondda Cynon Taf that may be most vulnerable to the effects of poor air 
quality and where measures focused to improve air quality may provide the 
greatest overall benefit. 

 
6. LOCAL AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREAS AND THE TREND IN AIR 

QUALITY 
 
6.1 The levels of air pollution experienced locally can be as a result of a number of 

different types of sources, both within the Borough and further afield16. 
Generally local Nitrogen Dioxide [NO2] levels are primarily influenced by road 
traffic sources.  Nationally air quality has generally improved over time as the 
adoption of new technology, macroeconomic change and regulation has 
reduced the amount of total air pollution emitted.  Nitrogen Dioxide [NO2] levels, 
have not improved as quickly as had been expected.  In RCT a worsening trend 
in Nitrogen Dioxide [NO2] was observed for several years after the Millennium. 
Most likely due to substantial local and regional urbanisation, associated traffic 
growth and the increase in use of diesel cars. Since then the trend has 
stabilised and more recently shown some general signs of gradual 
improvement.   

 
6.2 It is expected that as cleaner technology and sustainable mass transport 

options become available levels of air pollution will reduce, however, significant 
uncertainty is attached to how society, and its transport options, will change. 

                                                           
15 Priority clusters were associated with Ferndale/Tylorstown/Llwynypia, Cymmer and Penrhiwceiber/Miskin 
16 Both pollutants can be heavily influenced by transboundary pollution events (emissions of air pollution that 
has crossed great distances before arriving locally). 

Tudalen 48

http://lle.gov.wales/map#b=europa&l=973h;974h;975h;976h;977h;978h;979h;980h;981h;982h;983h;984h;985h;1564h;1577;&m=-3.33763,51.54135,11
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1462901119301145
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/laqm-background-home


 

6.3 Although the vast majority of Rhondda Cynon Taf is believed to experience 
good air quality, very specific local circumstances can result in levels of 
Nitrogen Dioxide that can exceed an Air Quality Objective.  This has resulted in 
sixteen, comparatively small areas within the County Borough declared as Air 
Quality Management Areas [AQMAs]. They cover a range of different urban 
areas from some town centres to the length of certain streets or even a small 
number of properties close to particularly busy roads or junctions.  Currently the 
largest AQMA in the County Borough covers 207 properties within the Aberdare 
Town Centre, whereas, the smallest covers one property near a very busy road 
junction at Mwyndy.  It is also the case that not all AQMAs, or parts of the same 
AQMA, may experience the same degree of elevated air pollution.  At present 
it is believed the Cymmer, Ferndale and Nightingales Bush AQMAs may 
experience the highest observed levels of air pollution, whereas, Aberdare, 
Tonyrefail and Treforest may be much closer to achieving compliance.  

 
6.4 It can be difficult to make meaningful comparisons of the number, size and 

severity of AQMAs between Welsh Local Authorities.  For instance, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf may observe a larger number of AQMAs when compared to Cardiff, 
which has four AQMAs, or Swansea, which has one AQMA, however, the 
AQMAs declared in these two cities cover much greater areas and numbers of 
people.  In general terms Rhondda Cynon Taf is ranked 13th best for levels of 
Nitrogen Dioxide [NO2] out of the 22 Local Authorities in Wales17. 

 
6.5 The reasons for the AQMAs are varied but are invariably associated with road 

traffic emissions. Although the reasons can be very location specific, they often 
include the importance of local topography and the urban environment. The 
volume, speed and composition of road traffic, as well as the management of 
this traffic, along roads within, or nearby to, each AQMA are also key factors.  
Some strategic arterial roads, for instance the A470 and the A4119, have a 
demonstrable effect at certain vulnerable locations. Table A in Appendix 1 
provides further detail on each Air Quality Management Area within Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, including the number of properties in each area, the improvement 
required and the key air quality related factors. 

 
7. IMPROVING LOCAL AIR QUALITY 
 
7.1 At the local level action can be taken to improve air quality, often in conjunction 

with other agendas, both at locations where levels of air pollutants are elevated 
and more generally throughout the community.  With regards to the Air Quality 
Management Areas, the Local Authority has adopted individual Air Quality 
Action Plans [AQAPs] that advocate cost-effective/cost-beneficial actions that 
would work towards the aspiration of compliance with the Air Quality Objectives.  
These actions are varied, and include specific actions relating to an Air Quality 
Management Area, to more far reaching actions that could improve air quality 
more widely. Several of these actions have already been implemented, 
however, it has not been possible to advance all actions to date.   

 

                                                           
17 Population weighted exposure to Nitrogen Dioxide. 

Tudalen 49



 

7.2 Appendix 1 Table B contains a list of various practical improvement actions that 
could deliver air quality improvement within the Air Quality Management Areas 
and potentially more broadly throughout the County Borough.  Having regard 
to local circumstances and the often transport related issues associated with 
improving air quality, some potential viable actions have been identified from 
the list in Table B for further detailed consideration with the relevant partners. 
These have been listed with additional information within Appendix 1 Table C. 

 
8. FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES & CHALLENGES FOR LOCAL AIR QUALITY 
 
8.1 To enable effective assessment of local air quality, over time the Local Authority 

has put in place a targeted monitoring network.  This has enabled an evidenced 
based approach to policy formation, decision making and improvement actions. 
Supporting not only Local Air Quality Management duties directly but also other 
priority agendas as well as sustainable local development. Due to continued 
resource pressures, this network has inevitably been optimised to meet 
statutory requirements and the monitoring network may not currently satisfy the 
wider public interest in air quality or developing policy areas. In addition, as 
monitoring equipment approaches ‘end of life’, decisions will be required on 
further investment or rationalisation of the monitoring infrastructure.  

 
8.2 Sustainable economic development and the potential future adoption of 

‘cleaner’ technologies will likely advance improvement in local air quality over 
time. However, without intervention, the most vulnerable communities may be 
the last to experience the anticipated improvement 18.  With the lack of 
dedicated external grant funding and the prioritisation of other activities, 
resourcing improvement actions is likely to be a substantive barrier to 
progressing Local Air Quality Management.  Additionally, although it is 
acknowledged that many departments of the Local Authority could positively 
impact local air quality it has been challenging to provide a coordinated holistic 
approach in the consideration and implementation of improvement actions.  
This has led to the identification and delivery of ‘win-win’ multi-agenda 
outcomes becoming an increasingly important factor in obtaining potential 
funding and raising awareness of understanding the need to improve air quality 
across a variety of policy areas and decision makers. 

 
8.3 Cross-agenda delivery has had a recognised role in local air quality 

management for some time. For instance, due to significant investment cost it 
would be unlikely that the Church Village Bypass would have been a viable 
action to improve air quality in isolation, however, its viability to improve local 
amenity and drive economic development enabled this project to go forward.  
In doing so, this has had a dramatic role in improving local air quality and 
environmental noise within a number of communities along the B4595.  The 
inclusion of active travel links via the Community route also reflected the 

                                                           
18 Cleaner technology can include a range of innovative solutions, including renewable energy, the uptake of low 
emission vehicles, alternative powered domestic heating, the use of information technology to reduce travel 
need, improve travel options (i.e. single-trip hire schemes) or facilitate more efficient coordinated travel. The 
use of some forms of cleaner technology may incur an initial cost or technological awareness, which the poorest 
or most vulnerable in society may find challenging. 

Tudalen 50



 

consideration of sustainable travel options when planning the by-pass road and 
the impact on the local community.  

 
8.4 By using, where appropriate, a ‘win-win’ multi-agenda outcome approach it is 

not only possible to deliver the obvious actions that could directly improve air 
quality but also bring together a range of experiences and expertise to enable 
the identification of potentially cost-effective solutions that deliver a wider range 
of sustainable benefits. For example, the utilisation of grant funding19 to deliver 
improved/repaired street lighting serving the active travel access route to 
Pontypridd High School.  This action benefited a number of agendas, including 
local engagement (action identified after engagement with the High School), 
active travel (further improving safety and reducing perceived barriers to the 
use of the designated active travel route), air quality & climate change (by 
enabling active travel this may directly reduce dependency on vehicle and 
associated air pollution and carbon emissions) and biodiversity (it was possible 
to tailor the action so as its impact on nocturnal wildlife could be reduced). 

 
8.5 It is likely that Climate Change, with an increasingly erratic climate, may 

negatively impact upon future air quality, potentially by making elevated air 
pollution episodes more frequent and more intense.  As such, a need to 
consider novel yet deliverable solutions is paramount with sustainable 
transport, green infrastructure and behavioural change seen as representing 
significant potential in delivering broad improvement. These broader actions 
need to be considered alongside appropriate local traffic management solutions 
to benefit air quality by improving and influencing traffic flow in key areas. 

 
8.6 Current public interest in Local Air Quality Management can mean that the air 

quality agenda could become a strong agent for positive change. As air quality 
understanding and expectations has evolved, Welsh Government policy in this 
area has also rapidly developed.  Currently the Welsh Government is consulting 
upon a number of changes to how Local Air Quality Management may be 
delivered, these proposed changes may have the potential to alter the Council’s 
statutory obligations and require reconsideration of how it goes about delivering 
Local Air Quality Management duties in the future. 

 
9. CARBON REDUCTION 
 
9.1 The interaction between Air Pollution and Climate Change is complex, with 

inextricable overlap between both agendas. It is likely that many actions to 
improve air quality will have a complimentary effect in tackling Climate Change, 
particularly in respect of reducing vehicle use through more sustainable travel 
options. However, not all actions to improve air pollution will reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions and vice versa.  For instance, the building of a new road to divert 
road traffic from an area where air pollution may be elevated, could result in 
traffic growth along the new road and an overall increase in greenhouse gas 
emissions. As with the Church Village bypass and the proposed Llanharan 
Bypass, incorporating active travel measures are key design factors in 
providing sustainable travel options for communities. Wherever possible, those 

                                                           
19 Local Authority Single Revenue Grant 2017-18 

Tudalen 51

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-12/consultation-a-clean-air-plan-for-wales.pdf


 

actions that improve both agendas should be prioritised and efforts made to 
jointly assess both air quality and climate change impacts during the evaluation 
of improvement actions. 

 
10. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 This report is informative, as such an Equality Impact Assessment is not 

required. As air quality improvement actions (or inaction) has the potential to 
affect certain groups, during the compilation or review of an Air Quality Action 
Plan(s), a proportionate Equality Impact Assessment will be included. 

 
11. CONSULTATION 
 
11.1 This report has been produced to provide air quality information as required by 

the Work Programme for the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group and, as 
such, no formal consultation is necessary.   

 
11.2 Local Air Quality Management is, at various stages, subject to statutory 

consultations, including formal annual review by Welsh Government, and the 
maintenance of certain information within a public register.    The Local Authority 
is currently planning, in accordance with statutory guidance to review, and 
where necessary to modify, all sixteen Air Quality Action Plans in 2020 to 
ensure their appropriateness. 

 
12. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 This report is informative only and does not commit any resources to any 

particular course of action. 
 
12.2 Currently only a limited air quality monitoring budget is maintained and there is 

no dedicated budget for improvement action delivery.  
 
13. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 This report on air quality is informative only and is not a decision making report 

with regards to any Local Air Quality Management obligations.   
 
13.2 Annual Air Quality Progress Reports are statutory reports which the Local 

Authority is obliged to produce. Air Quality Action Plans are statutory plans and 
may place the Local Authority under certain obligations, including the need to 
work towards delivering the identified actions so as to achieve compliance to 
an Air Quality Objective. During the formation or review of the Air Quality Action 
Plan a provisional assessment of the need for a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment [SEA] will be undertaken. 

 
13.3 Welsh Government retains a number of reserve powers, including legal 

direction, to ensure Local Authorities undertake their Local Air Quality 
Management duties. It has previously clarified the likely scenarios as to when 
and how it may use some of these powers.  In recent times, Welsh Government 
has exercised legal direction powers under Section 85 of the Environment Act 

Tudalen 52



 

1995 requiring, separately, Cardiff CC and Caerphilly CBC to undertake certain 
assessments and advance certain improvement actions, that may have 
significant local impact, in relation to Local Air Quality Management. 

 
14. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 

WELL BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS WALES ACT 
 
14.1 Local air quality management statutory guidance for Wales incorporates the 

principles and ways of working associated within the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act.  By abiding by this guidance and utilising methods that 
acknowledge and promote sustainable multi-agenda delivery, the Council is 
demonstrating commitment to the principles of the Act. 

 
14.2 The Future Generation agenda will also have a key role in how the Local 

Authority considers air quality, reinforced by guidance requiring that as part of 
its assessment duties the Local Authority must have regard to the 
benchmarking of progress against National Indicator No.4. “the level of Nitrogen 
Dioxide in ambient air”. In contrast to the upper limit driven approach of Local 
Air Quality Management, the National Indicator drives an alternative burden 
reduction approach aimed at achieving a reduction in the population weighted 
general level of Nitrogen Dioxide throughout Rhondda Cynon Taf.  Progress in 
achieving improvement will be gauged against milestones, the achievement of 
which will be reported in a “Future Trends Report” produced by Welsh 
Government. In working with its health related partners, the Local Authority has 
drawn upon expertise and analysis to help identify those communities which 
may benefit the most from an active approach to improve local air quality, whilst 
also seeking to fulfil the Local Authorities statutory obligation on local air quality 
management. 
 

14.3 Having regard to the Council’s corporate priorities, air quality improvement and 
potential actions to bring this about, are likely to have significant relevance to 
helping some of our most vulnerable residents, encouraging healthier lives and 
helping to support improved prospects for our children and young people. With 
regard to creating proud places to live in RCT, improving air quality is a potential 
priority alongside with making the most of green infrastructure and capitalising 
upon major sustainable transport regeneration. 
 

15. CONCLUSION 
 
15.1 This supporting report provides information relevant to what actions are 

available to improve air quality in RCT and its contents should be considered 
as part of the main Discussion Paper - Work Programme for Climate Change 
Cabinet Steering Group. 

 
Contact Officer: Neil Pilliner, Environmental Protection and Housing Standards 
Manager 

Tel no: 01443 744281 (extn.21828)

Tudalen 53

http://www.assembly.wales/ministerial%20statements%20documents/how-measure-nations-progress%e2%80%93the-national-well-being-indicators-wales/national%20indicators%20for%20wales%20-%20technical%20document%20pdf%20(english).pdf


 
Appendix 1 

In the below Tables: - 
 = slight importance,  = moderate importance,  = substantial importance,  = 
major importance 
 = upward trend/increase in emission,  = downward trend/decrease in emission 
 
Table A: Details on each Air Quality Management Area within Rhondda Cynon Taf 

Are
a 

AQM
As 

N
o.

 o
f P

ro
pe

rti
es

 

H
AP

-R
AP

 P
rio

rit
y 

N
AP

PA
 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

N
ee

de
d 

5 
ye

ar
 T

re
nd

20
 

Tr
af

fic
 V

ol
um

e 

Bu
se

s 

H
G

Vs
 

R
oa

d 
In

cl
in

e 

N
et

w
or

k 
C

on
ge

st
io

n 

R
oa

d 
N

ar
ro

w
ne

ss
 

C
on

tro
lle

d 
Tr

af
fic

 

Pe
de

st
ria

n 
C

ro
ss

in
g 

Pa
rk

ed
 V

eh
ic

le
s 

Lo
ad

in
g 

Ve
hi

cl
es

 

In
-ro

ad
 B

us
 S

to
p 

Tr
af

fic
 C

al
m

in
g 

St
re

et
 C

an
yo

n 

St
ee

p 
Si

de
d 

Va
lle

y 

D
w

el
lin

gs
 N

ea
r R

oa
d 

Rho
ndd

a 

Cymm
er 

1
4
6 

  
  

 

  



 

 

 



 

 


 


  

 

 

 
 

Fernd
ale 

1
0
2 

  
 


 


 



 

  
 


   



 



 

 
 


 


  

Llwyn
ypia 

2
8   

  
 


   

 
 



 

    
 

   

Tonyr
efail 

2
0 

   
    

 
 


 



 

 


 

  
 


 

  

Tylors
town 

6
5   

  
 


   

 

 

  


 

 
 

 

 


 


 

Cyn
on 

Aberd
are 

2
7
0 

    
    

 
 



 

    
 

   

Mount
ain 
Ash 

5
7   

 

 



 

   
 

 


 

    
 


  



 

Taf 

Broad
way21 

2
5
9 

    
    

 
 

     
 

   

Churc
h 

Villag
e 

2
1 

   
 


    

 

 


 

    
 


   

Cilfyn
ydd 

1
7
3 

  
 


 



 

   
 

      
 

   

Llanh
aran 7     

    
 


 

     
 

   

Mwyn
dy 1   

 

 



 

   
 

 


 

    
 

   

Nantg
arw 8     



 

 
 



 

 
 



 

    
 

   

                                                           
20 As air quality can fluctuate form year to year, a medium term consideration of the trend is necessary, this can also mean that 
interventions to improve air quality (e.g. A470 speed restrictions) can take some time before monitoring data robustly 
demonstrates any local effect.   
21 The Broadway AQMA is to be amended to reduce its size to approximately 156 properties. 

Tudalen 54



 
Nighti
ngales 
Bush 

1
1 

  
  



 

   

       

 
   

Ponty
pridd 

8
4 

  
  

 

   

 
 



 

    
 

   

Trefor
est 8    

 


 

   
 

      
 

   

 

Table B: List of practical improvement actions  
Actions that are considered more viable are highlighted in bold, actions that have already been 
completed are marked with a C 

Actio
n 

Type 
Action 

Air Quality Impact Other Impact 

C
os

t 

Cost 
Effectivenes

s 
 

AQ
M

A 

W
ith

in
 A

re
a 

of
 

C
on

ce
rn

 

R
eg

io
na

l 

N
oi

se
 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

Ec
on

om
ic

 

PS
B 

Pr
io

rit
ie

s 

In
 A

Q
M

A 

R
eg

io
na

lly
 

Fu
rth

er
 C

on
si

de
ra

tio
n 

in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 A
Q

 

N
ew

 &
 M

aj
or

 R
ec

on
fig

ur
at

io
n 

of
 R

oa
ds

 

Church Village 
– A473 Relief 
Rd 

Church 
Village 


 


 


  

  
   C 

Porth – 
Rhondda Fawr 
Lower Relief Rd 

N/A 
 


   

  
   C 

Llanharan 
Bypass Llanharan 

      
   

 
Mt Ash Cross-
Valley Link Mt Ash       

    

Pontypridd 
Partial 
Pedestrianisati
on 

Pontypridd          C 

Ely Valley Rd 
Dualling N/A       

    

Llwydcoed – 
Heads of the 
Valley 
Reconfiguration 

N/A       
    

Treorchy Relief 
Rd N/A       

    

Tr
af

fic
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t Cardiff Rd 

Signal 
Improvement 
reduce 
congestion 
along Cardiff 
Rd northbound 

Aberdare          C 

Tudalen 55



 
Oxford St 
Signal 
Improvement 
reduce 
congestion 
along Oxford St 
northbound (no 
effect to New 
Rd) 

Mt Ash          C 

Broadway 
North Signal 
Improvement & 
Increased 
Junction 
Capacity 
(right-turn from 
Broadway 
North) 
reduce 
congestion 
along 
Broadway 
northbound 

Broadway          C 

Partridge Rd 
Jct Signal 
Improvement 
reduce 
congestion 
along Partridge 
Rd southbound  

Llwynypia          
 

Mill St Signal 
Improvement 
reduce 
congestion 
along Mill St 
northbound 

Tonyrefail           

Dyffryn 
Terrace Signal 
Improvement 
reduce 
congestion 
along Dyffryn 
Tce westbound 

Church 
Village           

Off-Road Bus 
Stops  
reduce 
disruption to 
traffic flow 
within the area 
caused by bus 
waiting 

Church 
Village 

Tonyrefail 
Tylorstown 

          

Tudalen 56



 
Fl

ow
 C

on
tro

ls
 

A470 Partial 
Speed Limit 
Reduction & 
Preserving 
Existing Green 
Barriers 
Reducing 
speed limit 
directly reduces 
traffic 
emissions with 
existing green 
barriers 
providing a 
physical break 
from air 
pollution (led by 
Welsh 
Government). 

Broadway 
Cilfynydd 

Nightingale
s B. 

Pontypridd 
Treforest 


   

      C 

Designated 
Off-Street 
Parking  
Reducing need 
for on-street 
parking and 
potential 
associated 
impediment to 
traffic flow 

Cymmer 
Ferndale 
Tonyrefail 
Tylorstown 

      
    

Increased 
Parking 
Enforcement 
Restricting 
parking with 
associated 
enforcement at 
critical locations 
which can 
otherwise 
impede traffic 
flow 

Cymmer 
Ferndale 
Tonyrefail 
Tylorstown 

         
 

Li
nk

ed
 T

ra
ns

po
rta

tio
n Llanharan Park 

& Ride Llanharan          C 

Abercynon Park 
& Ride 

Cilfynydd 
Nightingale

s B. 
Treforest 

         C 

Taffs Well Park 
& Ride           C 

Rhondda Park 
& Ride Llwynypia           

Pu
bl

ic
 T

ra
ns

po
rt 

South Wales 
Metro 

Aberdare 
Broadway 
Cilfynydd 
Llwynypia 

Miskin 
Mt Ash 

Nantgarw 
Pontypridd 
Treforest 

 
 


 


 


  

   
 

Valley Lines 
Electrification 

Broadway 
Pontypridd   

 

 


  

    

Tudalen 57



 
Coordinated 
Train & Bus 
Journeys 
By enabling 
linked up public 
transport the 
effective travel 
range and 
hence usability 
may increase 

All   
 


 


 


    

 

Combined 
Public 
Transport 
Ticketing 
Combined 
ticketing 
options can 
reduce 
complexity to 
users 

All   
 


 


 


    

 

Ac
tiv

e 
Tr

av
el

 

Cycle lanes  
Increasing 
demarcated 
cycle lane 
provision to 
improve 
usability 

Aberdare 
Broadway 
Cymmer 
Ferndale 
Llanharan 
Llwynypia 
Mountain 

Ash 
Church 
Village 

Pontypridd 
Tonyrefail 
Tylorstown 

     
 


    

School Routes 
Improvements  
Improvement to 
designated 
school active 
travel routes to 
improve 
usability and 
encourage use 

Aberdare 
Broadway 
Cymmer 
Ferndale 
Llanharan 
Llwynypia 
Mountain 

Ash 
Church 
Village 

Pontypridd 
Tonyrefail 
Tylorstown 

     
    

 

Short Trip 
Active Travel 
Support 
Using 
innovative 
information 
technology and 
associated 
infrastructure to 
offer short term 
bicycle hire to 
support 
spontaneous 
travel choices. 

All      
     

Tudalen 58



 
Em

is
si

on
 C

on
tro

ls
 

Taxi Emission 
Standards  
Cross-board 
licensing 
requirements 
stipulating an 
enhanced 
emission 
standard for the 
fleet 

All    
   

   
 

School 
Transport 
Standards  
Contract 
requirements 
stipulating an 
enhanced 
emission 
standard for the 
fleet 

All  
  

   
   

 

RCT Fleet 
Standards  
Procurement 
rules stipulating 
an enhanced 
emission 
standard for the 
fleet 

All    
   

   
 

Low Emission 
Zone  
Designating a 
geographical 
area (normally 
a town centre) 
that only a 
vehicle (or class 
of vehicles) 
meeting a 
specified 
emission 
standard can 
enter 

Aberdare 
Pontypridd    

   
    

In
di

re
ct

 

Electric 
Vehicle 
Charging  
Installing or 
supporting the 
installation of 
wide-scale 
public or 
targeted 
charging points 

All 
 


 


 


  

 

  

 

 

Green 
Infrastructure 
Using carefully 
designed tress 
and hedge 
planting to 
mitigate the 
flow of air 
pollution from a 
source to a 
relevant 
population 

Aberdare 
Broadway 

Church 
Village 

Cilfynydd 
Mwyndy 

Nantgarw 
Pontypridd 

 
  

      
 

Tudalen 59



 
En

gi
ne

er
ed

 
Hard 
Engineered 
Barriers 
Using solid 
barriers (such 
as acoustic 
barriers) to 
mitigate the 
flow of air 
pollution from a 
source to a 
relevant 
population 

Cilfynydd 
Mwyndy 

Nantgarw 
Nightingale

s Bush 
Pontypridd 
Treforest 

  
    

    

Be
ha

vi
ou

ra
l 

Travel 
Information  
Providing travel 
information to 
enable the 
public to make 
informed public 
transport 
choices 

All      
   

 

 

Staff 
Inducement 
LA workplace 
schemes that 
encourage 
travel planning 
or the uptake of 
active travel 
options 

All           

School 
Engagement  
Improving 
awareness of 
the current 
situation 
amongst the 
young and the 
choices that 
can be made to 
improve things 

All           

Clean Air Day 
Events 
Targeted 
events (centred 
around June) to 
reinforce the 
national 
messaging 
around Clean 
Air day 

All           

Domestic 
Heating 
Inducement 
Targeting grant 
aid to enable 
solid fuel only 
users to adopt 
cleaner 
alternatives 

All       
    

Tudalen 60



 
Development 
Control  
Adopting 
planning 
policies that 
places 
sustainable 
development 
and the ‘agent 
of change’ 
principles firmly 
within the LDP 

All           

R
ea

ct
io

na
l 

Relocation of 
Population  
Removing, 
possibly via 
CPO, those 
members of the 
public that 
reside within 
the smaller 
AQMAs 

Llanharan 
Mwyndy 

Nantgarw 
Nightingale

s B. 
Treforest 


      

    

 Do Nothing All           

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 61



 
Table C: Potentially viable actions that could deliver air quality improvement 

 

N
o. 

Deliverabi
lity Action Area 

Impact 
Align
ed 

with 
PSB 

Priorit
y 

Likelihoo
d Without 
Prioritisati

on AQ
M

A 

R
eg

io
na

l A
Q

 

N
oi

se
 

C
lim

at
e 

C
ha

ng
e 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 

1 

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e 

Traffic Light 
Signal 
Improvements 
Traffic 
management 
(especially of 
road junctions) 
can result in 
local traffic 
congestion 
which in turn can 
result in locally 
elevated levels 
of air pollution. 
The Church 
Village, 
Llwynypia and 
Tonyrefail are 
likely to be 
affected by 
existing light 
controlled traffic 
management 
measures that 
could have the 
potential to be 
modified or 
upgraded to 
either allow more 
efficient 
management or 
to benefit the 
worst case area 
of the AQMA at 
potential slight 
detriment to 
elsewhere. 

Rhond
da Taff   - -  -  

2 

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e 

Increased 
Parking 
Enforcement 
Illegally parked 
cars along 

Rhond
da      -  

Tudalen 62



 
narrow 
carriageway 
roads can lead to 
significant short-
term congestion 
when traffic 
cannot smoothly 
pass the 
temporary 
obstruction. 
Cymmer, 
Ferndale, 
Tonyrefail and 
Tylorstown 
have, to some 
degree, parking 
restrictions to 
prevent 
impediment.  To 
maintain their 
relevance it is 
necessary to 
enforce the 
restrictions. 
Consider 
possible 
targeted 
enforcement 
actions in these 
areas 
(potentially at the 
expense of 
enforcement 
elsewhere). 

3 

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e 

Travel 
Information 
Providing readily 
digestible travel 
information (e.g. 
public transport 
area options 
leaflet) can 
improve 
awareness and 
help the public 
pick sustainable 
travel options. 
Compiling and 
dissemination of 
information can 
be a useful 
element in 
helping to 
improve uptake. 

RCT        

Tudalen 63



 

4 

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e 

School 
Engagement 
Future change is 
most likely to be 
brought about by 
today’s young 
people, 
informing young 
people at an 
early stage of the 
relevance of air 
quality and its 
part in the 
environment can 
not only bring 
about change in 
the present but 
also help make 
the change 
sustainable for 
the future.  
School 
engagement 
could include 
incorporating 
local 
environmental 
information (i.e. 
air quality) into 
the current 
syllabus, 
advancing  

RCT      -  

5 

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e 

Development 
Control 
Policies 
Air Quality can 
be dramatically 
affected by 
future 
development, 
likewise future 
development 
can play both a 
direct and 
supportive role in 
advancing local 
air quality 
management.  
Placing air 
quality and noise 
within LDP policy 
and 
consideration of 
specific 

RCT      -  

Tudalen 64



 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Guidance (SPG) 
could help 
safeguard 
current 
improvements 
and deliver 
sustainable 
future 
communities.  

6 

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e 

Clean Air Day 
Events 
Delivering a 
series of events 
in associated 
with the 
nationally 
planned Clean 
Air Day in June.  
Events could 
comprise of a 
range of actions 
including 
supportive press 
release and 
signposting to 
national or 
regional events, 
ULEV 
demonstrations, 
school/communi
ty engagement, 
street party 
takeover or no-
car day, etc.  
High profile 
events (no-car 
days) tend to 
have a greater 
effect in larger 
urban areas and 
may not be 
appreciated/prac
tical for all 
members of the 
community. 

RCT      -  

7 
Medium 

Term 
Possible 

Llanharan 
Bypass 
New road 
infrastructure 
that bypasses 
the centre of 
Llanharan (the 

Taf 
   - 

 -  

Tudalen 65



 
location of the 
AQMA).  The 
new road will be 
designed in 
accordance with 
modern 
practices so as 
to minimise 
congestion and 
maintain where 
possible 
distances from 
existing 
residences.  It is 
likely the vast 
majority 
traversing the 
existing 
Bridgend Road 
will be displaced 
onto the new 
Bypass 
dramatically 
reduced the local 
sources of air 
pollution. Active 
travel routes and 
links will be 
incorporated in 
the design. 

8 
Medium 

Term 
Possible 

Off-Road Bus 
Stops  
Busses stopping 
along narrow 
carriageway 
roads can lead to 
significant short-
term congestion 
when traffic 
cannot pass the 
temporary 
obstruction (this 
can be most 
observed for 
projected bus 
stops).  Church 
Village, 
Tonyrefail and 
most notably 
Tylorstown have 
current bus 
stops that can 
impede traffic 
flow.  By moving 

Rhond
da Taff      -  

Tudalen 66



 
the bus stop into 
an engineered 
lay-by or less 
obstructed area 
or re-designating 
nearby parking 
to allow the bus 
to move out of 
the flow of traffic 
this may reduce 
congestions.  
However, due to 
local urban 
layout or service 
requirements it 
may not be 
possible to 
deliver this 
action 

9 
Medium 

Term 
Possible 

South Wales 
Metro 
A regional 
scheme to 
deliver 
substantive 
sustainable 
public transport 
options across 
several strategic 
corridors within 
RCT. 

RCT  
 


 


    

10 
Medium 

Term 
Possible 

School Routes 
Improvements 
The likelihood of 
use of active 
travel routes can 
rely upon a 
number of 
factors, including 
distance, 
facilities, 
awareness and 
users 
perception. It 
may be possible 
for a number of 
improvements 
(surfacing, 
lighting, 
signposting, bike 
storage, 
awareness 
raising, walking-
bus assistance, 

RCT        

Tudalen 67



 
etc) to be 
considered 
which could 
reduce current 
dependence on 
short distance 
private transport.  

11 
Medium 

Term 
Possible 

Short Trip 
Active Travel 
Support 
Using innovative 
information 
technology and 
associated 
infrastructure to 
offer short term 
bicycle hire to 
support 
spontaneous 
travel choices, 
for instance 
NextBike in 
Cardiff.  This 
could be 
designed to 
encourage 
mixed active 
travel and public 
transport 
options. 

RCT        

12 
Medium 

Term 
Possible 

Staff 
Inducement 
Large employers 
(like RCT) can 
play an 
important part in 
incentivising 
their staff to pick 
sustainable 
travel options 
during the 
commute.  This 
could include 
travel planning, 
car share, bike to 
work, etc) 

RCT      -  

13 Aspiration
al 

Designated Off-
Street Parking 
Legally parked 
cars along 
narrow 
carriageway 
roads can lead to 
significant long-

Rhond
da   -     

Tudalen 68



 
term congestion 
when traffic 
cannot smoothly 
pass the 
frequent 
obstruction. 
Cymmer, 
Ferndale, 
Tonyrefail and 
Tylorstown have 
parking 
arrangements 
that can impede 
traffic flow.  Due 
to urban layout, 
local residents 
may have no 
option but to 
park on the road.  
By creating a 
designated 
space to enable 
off-street parking 
in coordination 
with 
restructuring 
current local 
parking 
provisions it may 
be possible to 
remove the 
obstruction.  
Future proofing 
could enable this 
provision to 
include EV 
charging points 
bringing this vital 
future 
technology to 
communities 
that may 
otherwise 
experience 
significant role-
out challenges.  
As free space is 
at a premium it 
may be the case 
that spatial 
repurposing will 
be necessary, 
this could be 
targeted at under 

Tudalen 69



 
utilised land use 
(long term empty 
properties) but 
may be limited 
by the need to 
ensure 
community 
cohesion. 

14 Aspiration
al 

Coordinated 
Train & Bus 
Journeys 
The linking of 
bus and train 
journeys can 
significantly 
improve the 
desirability and 
likelihood of use 
of public 
transport 
options. This 
could be 
particularly 
beneficial for 
areas where 
train services 
have been 
withdrawn in the 
past. Would 
likely require 
multi-level 
engagement (LA 
cannot deliver in 
isolation). 

RCT   
 


    

15 Aspiration
al 

Combined 
Public 
Transport 
Ticketing 
Single ticketing 
could 
significantly 
improve the 
desirability and 
likelihood of use 
of public 
transport options 
by reducing fare 
complexity and 
service 
uncertainty. 

RCT   
 


    

16 Aspiration
al 

Taxi Emission 
Standards  
Locally licensed 
taxi and private 

RCT    
 

(
)   

Tudalen 70



 
hire vehicles can 
comprise an 
important part of 
the local fleet, 
especially in 
urban hubs.  
Most operators 
may be able to 
make use of LEV 
technology, 
albeit current 
fleet options and 
costs may not 
encourage early 
uptake.  New 
licensing policy 
could enable the 
early adoption of 
LEV technology 
and also support 
wider 
acceptance of 
LEV technology. 
However, 
mandating 
adoption could 
bring forward 
financial 
implications, at 
least in the short-
term, for 
operators.  It 
may be 
necessary to 
coordinate any 
intervention with 
actions to 
improve local 
charging 
infrastructure, 
reduce capital 
barriers and 
consistency 
across other 
licensing 
authorities to 
maintain a 
functional 
market. 

17 Aspiration
al 

School 
Transport 
Standards 
Bus transport 
can significantly 

RCT  
  

  -  

Tudalen 71



 
contribute to 
elevated levels 
of air pollution 
with 
improvements to 
the fleet may 
have a 
disproportionatel
y better effect on 
local air 
pollution. 
Although the 
public bus fleet is 
of a relatively 
modern 
standard (Euro V 
and above), it 
can take some 
time (end of 
vehicle life) for 
similar 
standards to be 
adopted by the 
dedicated school 
bus transport 
fleet.  
Contracting of 
service 
provisions could 
look to set fleet 
emission 
standards that 
would potentially 
not otherwise be 
achieved in the 
quickest 
possible 
timeframe. It is 
likely such action 
would require 
premium 
payments and 
could have 
significant short 
term 
consequences 
to current 
providers (that it 
may become 
WG policy for 
LEV bus 
transport to be 
adopted by 
2028). 

Tudalen 72



 
 

18 Aspiration
al 

RCT Fleet 
Standards 
The LA makes 
use of a large 
dedicated mixed 
fleet, some of 
which could 
make use of LEV 
technology (this 
would require 
both vehicle and 
infrastructure 
changes).  New 
procurement 
rules could be 
considered that 
prioritises future 
LEV adoption (if 
suitable 
infrastructure is 
available).  Not 
only could this 
have a direct 
improvement it 
could also 
demonstrate the 
option to other 
large fleet 
operators (UHB) 
and help 
establish local 
charging 
infrastructure. 

RCT    
  -  

18 Aspiration
al  

Electric Vehicle 
Charging  
LEV (preferably 
EV) are 
considered a 
vital component 
in delivering 
sustainable low 
polluting future 
transport.  It is 
likely that one 
factor in the 
adoption of LEVs 
is the availability 
of charging 
infrastructure.  It 
is also the case 
that some areas 
of RCT may 
prove more 

RCT 
 


 


 


  -  

Tudalen 73



 
challenging, due 
to urban layout 
and deprivation, 
in technology 
role out.  
Targeted public 
intervention to 
establish a 
charging 
network may 
help encourage 
uptake. 

19 Aspiration
al 

Green 
Infrastructure 
Although local 
green 
infrastructure is 
unlikely to be of 
a scale to 
directly affect air 
pollution 
production within 
RCT. It can be 
potentially used, 
in very carefully 
considered 
scenarios 
(inappropriate 
use could make 
matter worse), 
for instance to 
mitigate the flow 
of air pollution 
and protect local 
residents or to 
provide areas 
where the public 
can easily 
access that that 
are markedly 
lower in air 
pollution when 
compared to the 
locality. For 
instance, the 
A470, in part, 
observes benefit 
from existing 
green 
infrastructure 
separating the 
local community 
from this major 
source of 

RCT  
  

  -  

Tudalen 74



 
Nitrogen 
Dioxide.  It is 
possible that 
certain places 
(e.g Ysgol Evan 
James 
(Pontypridd), 
Parclewis 
(Broadway), 
Cymmer Jnr. 
(Cymmer)) could 
benefit from 
“green walls” 
which create a 
barrier between 
a road and 
nearby people.   
The preservation 
and 
improvement of 
potential 
‘tranquil spaces’ 
(eg Aberdare 
Park, 
Ynysangharad 
Park) can enable 
the public to 
‘escape’ 
everyday air 
pollution 
exposure.  The 
use of green 
infrastructure to 
reduce power 
usage at 
buildings can 
also help to 
reduce the 
sources of some 
local air pollution 

 

 

Tudalen 75



Tudalen wag


	Agenda
	2 Cofnodion
	3 Meithrin Cysylltiadau â'r Gymuned
	4 Trafnidiaeth – sut ydyn ni'n lleihau ein hallyriadau carbon a newid ein dulliau teithio?
	RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
	REPORT OF THE GROUP DIRECTOR OF PROSPERITY, DEVELOPMENT AND FRONTLINE SERVICES IN DISCUSSION WITH THE CABINET’S CLIMATE CHANGE CHAMPION (COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS)
	TRANSPORTATION – HOW DO WE REDUCE OUR CARBON EMISSIONS AND CHANGE OUR MODES OF TRANSPORT?


	5 Ymgynghoriad ar ddrafft Polisi Rheoli Glaswellt Blodeuog Rhondda Cynon Taf
	6 Pa gamau y mae modd eu cymryd yn yr ardaloedd rheoli ansawdd aer, er mwyn sicrhau bod ansawdd aer yn gwella ledled y Fwrdeistref Sirol?

